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Chairman’s letter

Dear Shareholder

Your Company maintained its focus on gold exploration in Indonesia throughout the 
course of 2011, but towards the end of the year suffered a major setback at the Bima 
project which substantially undermined the value of our efforts.

We entered 2011 fully funded and commenced a drilling program at Trenggalek 
in East Java. This program yielded encouraging results confirming our view that 
Trenggalek is an area of considerable potential but also one which would require 
substantial expenditure given the size of the tenement area and the relatively narrow 
vein nature of the targets identified. Relatively low cost surface work, including 
systematic surface geochemical sampling and mapping, continued at Trenggalek 
over the year to evaluate new and existing prospects.

At Bima in East Sumbawa our plans to commence drilling in the early part of the year 
were disrupted by civil disturbances including anti-mining demonstrations. As a result, 
field work was suspended in February 2011 while further community consultation 
was undertaken. Low impact exploration resumed in November. However, there were 
violent demonstrations in December 2011 and again in January of this year. These 
demonstrations ultimately led to the revocation of the Bima exploration licence even 
though the Company and its joint venture partner were in no way involved and all 
licence requirements had been fulfilled.

The revocation of the Bima exploration licence is a disappointment for ARX, 
particularly as earlier surface results had been so encouraging. The act of revoking 
a compliant licence has raised serious concerns within the broader Indonesian 
business community, concerns we obviously share. 

The Company also holds a 20% interest in a Strategic Alliance with Anglo American to 
explore for copper-gold deposits in Papua and West Papua Provinces. The conversion 
of two titles was finalised during the year and as a result the Alliance now holds 
exploration permits covering nearly 3,000km2 of highly prospective ground in the 
region which also hosts Grasberg – Indonesia’s largest porphyry copper-gold deposit.

Notwithstanding the disappointments of 2011, the Company goes into 2012 in a 
relatively strong cash position and is examining new opportunities both in Indonesia 
and elsewhere to spread its project and country risk. In the meantime, the Company 
has taken steps to reduce its cash burn rate to preserve its cash resources while 
these new opportunities are being investigated.

Going forward, we are determined to ensure that the Company’s financial resources 
are deployed to add maximum value for shareholders and we look forward to 
providing specific details to you at the earliest opportunity.

Yours faithfully

Bruce J. Watson 
Chairman
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$6.9M
ARXOA OPTIONS WERE 

EXERCISED IN JANuARY 2011

1,429
 METRES OF DRILLING 

AT TRENGGALEk

Arc Exploration is 
focussed on Exploration 
for Gold and associated 
metals.

Strategy
The Company’s growth strategy is 
based on:

 – utilising Arc’s exploration expertise 
in the region

 – Building on the tangible field results 
obtained to date from the highly 
prospective project areas

 – Seeking to identify new projects 
where the Company can add value

 – Supporting its Strategic Alliance 
with Anglo American to add 
significant value

The Company’s strategy to date has 
delivered significant results, signalling 
a new growth phase for Arc Exploration.

Outlook
Arc is in a solid financial position 
on which to base its forward 
exploration strategy.

ARXOA options were exercised in 
January 2011 with a 95 per cent take 
up raising $6.9 million.

The Company is determined to deploy 
these funds in the best possible way to 
add value for its Shareholders.

Trenggalek
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Project Highlights

Trenggalek
Located in the highly prospective 
Southern Mountains of the Sunda-
Banda magmatic arc, the project occurs 
in the same belt as other recent gold-
copper discoveries such as Intrepid’s 
Tujuh Bukit project.

Exploration during the year produced 
several new prospects.

Drilling confirmed the presence of 
low grade mineralisation beneath 
two brecciated and slicified cap 
rock targets.

Bima
Lying on the same magmatic arc as 
Trenggalek, the project is located close 
to Newmont’s giant Batu Hijau copper-
gold mine.

Work was interrupted during the year 
due to local disturbances.

The exploration license was revoked in 
January 2012. 

Papua
The Strategic Alliance with global mining 
major Anglo American, holds unique 
significance and value for Arc. Anglo 
American is responsible for managing 
and funding all work on the project up 
to the point of a decision to mine.

The alliance now holds 3,000km2 of 
highly prospective ground in the same 
region that hosts the Grasberg mining 
district – Indonesia’s largest cooper-
gold producer.

BIMa

PaPua
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Review of Activities
for year ended 31 December 2011

INDONESIA

TRENGGALEK
BIMA

PAPuA

TOKA Tindung gOSOWOng

grASBerg

POngKOr

MArTABe

key
Gold and Copper Mines

Gold Deposits (development)

arC exPloraTIon ProjeCTs

Review of Activities

exploration
Arc Exploration Limited (“ARX”) is exploring for gold, silver and base metal deposits along Indonesia’s highly 
prospective magmatic arcs and related terranes. The primary exploration targets are high-grade epithermal 
gold-silver and porphyry copper-gold deposits.

Trenggalek Project, East Java (ARX – 95%)

ARX operates a joint venture with its local Indonesian 
partner, P.T. Sumber Mineral Nusantara, who holds the 
Trenggalek exploration license covering an area of 30,044ha 
(~300km2) in the Southern Mountains of East Java.

The Southern Mountains lie within the Sunda-Banda 
magmatic arc and is highly prospective for epithermal 
gold and porphyry copper-gold deposits. This terrane 
has potential to emerge into a major new mineral belt, as 
demonstrated by the large copper-gold discovery made by 
Intrepid Mines at Tujuh Bukit in a similar package of rocks 
located on the eastern side of the Southern Mountains.

Gold mineralisation at Trenggalek occurs in epithermal 
quartz vein systems associated with fossilised hot spring 
features such as hydrothermal breccias, silica cappings and 
sinters. These are hosted in a package of Oligo-Miocene 
volcaniclastic rocks, limestone and subvolcanic plugs. The 
license area is also prospective for replacement-style gold 
mineralisation in silicified limestone (“jasperoid”) and deeper 
porphyry-related copper-gold systems.

Scout drilling completed at Trenggalek in 2010 established 
that the project represents a substantial new epithermal gold 
field with potential for multiple gold resources. Some drill-
holes intersected narrow high-grade intervals within broader 
low grade intercepts at several prospects. These include:

•	 2.0m	at	17.2	g/t	Au	&	13	g/t	Ag	within	an	intersection	
of	9.6m	at	4.5	g/t	Au	&	8	g/t	Ag	from	111.3m	in	hole	
TRDD-4	at	Sentul	Prospect;

•	 1.9m	at	11.3	g/t	Au	&	293	g/t	Ag	within	an	intersection	
of	6.6m	at	4.9	g/t	Au	&	149	g/t	Ag	from	62.4m	in	hole	
TRDD-35	at	Kojan	Prospect;	and

•	 2.0m	at	8.7	g/t	Au	&	48	g/t	Ag	within	an	intersection	
of	13.7	m	at	3.2	g/t	Au	&	60	g/t	Ag/t	from	13.4m	in	
hole	TRDD-37	at	Buluroto	Prospect.

Potential for porphyry-related copper-gold mineralisation 
was also demonstrated in the project area with an 
intersection of 27m at 0.2% Cu & 0.49 g/t Au obtained in hole 
TRDD-25 at Buluroto.

TuJuH BuKiT

BATu HiJAu
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Review of Activities
for year ended 31 December 2011

Figure	1
Trenggalek	IUP	&	Propect	Location	Plan
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Summary	Description	of	Work	Completed 
and	Results:

Further surface prospecting and 1,429m diamond drilling 
were undertaken during the year. The surface work 
produced several new prospects and the drilling confirmed 
the presence of low-grade gold mineralisation beneath 
two brecciated and silicified cap rock targets. Consultation 
continued with the Indonesian Ministry of Forestry for the 
renewal of the forestry use permit (“Ijin Pinjam Pakai”).

Suruh – An area of silicified hydrothermal breccias and 
residual sinter boulders measuring about 400m by 200m with 
strong coincident gold and arsenic-antimony anomalism in 
soil. Continuous chip sampling on stockworked volcanics 
surrounding the breccia capping produced broad low-
grade gold intercepts including 14m at 0.16 g/t Au, 26m 
at 0.16 g/t Au, and 20m at 0.3 g/t Au. Sampling within the 
breccia capping returned low gold but elevated arsenic-
antimony geochemistry.

Two angled diamond holes tested the eastern side of 
the breccia capping and a chargeability anomaly. These 
intersected low-grade gold in thinly quartz veined, altered 
volcanic rocks beneath the breccia, including down-hole 
gold intercepts of 4m at 0.55 g/t Au in TRDD046 and 
16.1m at 0.18 g/t Au in TRDD047.

A stronger zone of chargeability and elevated gold-soil 
geochemistry located in production forest on the western 
side of the prospect is yet to be drill tested.

Figure	2
Sentul	Cross	Section

Figure	3 
Buloroto	Cross	Section
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Review of Activities
for year ended 31 December 2011

SuruH diAMOnd drilling Survey

Timahan – An area of jasperoid measuring about 2km by 
3km with coincident gold and arsenic-antimony anomalism 
in soil overlies altered volcaniclastic rocks intruded by 
volcanic plugs. Continuous chip sampling on two separate 
zones on the eastern side of the prospect returned broad 
low-grade gold intercepts including 28m at 0.29 g/t Au and 
13m at 0.74 g/t Au.

Four angled diamond holes tested the two stockwork 
zones. Three holes intersected zones of low-grade gold 
mineralisation in thinly quartz veined jasperoid with down-
hole gold intercepts of 10.25m at 0.21 g/t Au in TRDD052 
(Macan Zone) and 13m at 0.23 g/t Au in TRDD053 
(Genteng Zone).

These holes tested only a small part of the Timahan 
prospect. The intercepts reported in these initial holes may 
represent haloes of low-grade mineralisation surrounding 
possible higher grade feeder structures in the upper levels 
of an epithermal gold system. The strongest gold-soil 
anomalies lie in production forest on the southern and 
western side of the prospect and are yet to be drill tested.

Kojan – Comprises multiple gold-bearing parallel quartz 
veins up to 5m wide that have a collective strike length of 
several kilometres. Two angled holes were drilled on the 
kenong Vein about 50m down-dip and along strike of a 
previous hole, TRDD035, which returned a high grade down-
hole gold- silver intercept of 1.9m at 11.28 g/t Au & 293 g/t 
Ag in a previous program.

Both holes returned narrow low-grade gold-silver intercepts 
of 1.1m at 1.39 g/t Au & 40 g/t Ag in TRDD049 and 6.5m 
at 0.17 g/t Au & 1 g/t Ag in TRDD051, indicating that the 
vein has pinched at its southern extremity.

Only a small part of this large vein system has been drill 
tested.

upper Jombok – High-grade vein float sheds from 
colluvium at this prospect. Soil sampling produced a 
weakly elevated gold and arsenic anomaly measuring 
100m by 200m. Shallow pits to test this anomaly intersected 
colluvium containing banded quartz-chalcedony vein 
cobbles overlying weakly veined volcaniclastic rocks. Grab 
samples of the vein cobbles returned up to 16.5 g/t gold 
and chip samples of the weakly veined bedrock returned up 
to 0.78 g/t gold.

Paces – An area of narrow quartz veining centred on 
a volcanic plug above upper Jombok. Soil sampling 
produced an arsenic anomaly with spotty highs associated 
with banded quartz-chalcedony vein float cobbles (<10-
30cm wide), erratically scattered over a 100m by 200m 
area. Selective grab sampling of the vein float returned up to 
13.3 g/t gold and 87 g/t silver. A small outcrop of veined 
sandstone located on the eastern side of the prospect 
returned 1.63 g/t gold.

The high-grade vein float shedding from colluvium at 
upper Jombok may be sourced from Paces. There is 
potential at Paces for a shallow bulk tonnage gold target 
associated with narrow veins and stockwork.

Figure	4
Jombok – Paces Prospect
Arsenic	in	Soil,	Gold	in	Rock	&	Test-Pit	
Locations
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Review of Activities
for year ended 31 December 2011

Sumber Bening – This new prospect, located within a 
4km circular feature on the western side of the license area, 
comprises an extensive area (+2km by 1km) of silica-clay-
pyrite alteration with localised pods of vughy silica-hematite/
specularite-pyrite alteration.

Initial grab sampling of altered boulders and outcrops 
returned assays of up to 0.14ppm gold and anomalous 
gold-pathfinder elements that include bismuth (up to 
1,410ppm Bi), copper (up to 277pm Cu) and molybdenum 
(up to 37ppm Mo). The extent of the alteration and the 
coincident geochemical anomalies in vughy silica and clay-
pyrite altered quartz-eye porphyry rocks are particularly 
encouraging. These may represent an alteration lithocap 
over buried mineralised porphyry intrusions.

Bogoran – This new prospect lies on major structural 
lineaments that extend along the eastern side of 
Timahan Prospect.

Initial grab sampling from float and outcrops produced 
elevated gold in jasperoid and in narrow epithermal quartz 
veins cutting andesite porphyry. Thirty-seven of 60 rock 
samples returned gold assays ranging from 0.1 to 2.96 g/t 
gold (average 0.43 g/t gold). One grab sample taken from 
a 20cm wide banded quartz-limonite vein returned a gold 
result of 23.3 g/t Au.

Two jasperoid zones measuring 400m by 20m and 200m by 
80m occur at the northern end of the prospect and several 
narrow zones of NE- and NNW-trending quartz veining up 
to 500m long occur in andesite on the southern and eastern 
sides of the prospect. The host structures may coalesce 
into broader zones of mineralisation that have bulk tonnage 
potential.

vein And JASPerOid feATureS

Bima Project, east sumbawa  
(arx – 95%)
The Company operates another joint venture with P.T. SMN. 
The Bima exploration license covers an area of 24,980ha 
(~250km2) in East Sumbawa, West Nusa Tenggara 
Province.

The Bima Project is located about 230km east of Newmont’s 
Batu Hijau porphyry copper-gold deposit and lies on the 
same segment of the Sunda-Banda magmatic arc. Targets 
identified are gold and base metal-rich intermediate-
sulphidation epithermal veins, disseminated gold jasperoid, 
and gold-rich high-sulphidation lithocaps hosted in a 
package of volcanic and sedimentary rocks that may be 
related to deeper porphyry copper-gold targets.

Work was interrupted early in the year due to local civil 
disturbances. The Company undertook a further extensive 
series of meetings, presentations and discussions with the 
local communities and Government authorities to further 
explain work plans and address any concerns. The decision 
to recommence field work was made late in the year 
following positive responses from the local communities and 
Government authorities.

Exploration activities were again halted in December due 
to anti-mining demonstrations at the nearby port of Sape. 
The demonstrators stated that they opposed all exploration 
and mining and demanded the revocation of P.T. SMN’s 
exploration licence. The demonstrators blockaded the 
port of Sape and a police action to re-open the port on 
24 December 2011 resulted in two reported fatalities. 
Further demonstrations in Bima on 26 January 2012 resulted 
in the destruction of a number of buildings including the 
office of the Regent of Bima.

The Company’s Indonesian partner was advised by the 
Regent of Bima that the exploration licence was suspended 
and subsequently revoked on 31 December 2011 and 
on the 28 January 2012, respectively.

ARX and PT SMN were in full compliance with all legal 
and regulatory license requirements when the license was 
suspended and subsequently revoked.
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Review of Activities
for year ended 31 December 2011

Summary	Description	of	Work	Completed	
and	Results:

Due to the disturbances only limited surface exploration was 
undertaken. This included prospecting, drainage and soil 
sampling, and trenching.

Figure	5
Bima	IUP	&	Propect	Location	Plan

Soro – Comprises a 4km by 2km area of jasperoid cut 
by localised epithermal quartz-chalcedony-sulphide 
stockworks. Work in 2010 identified extensive gold-multi-
element soil anomalies and significant gold intercepts in 
trenches, including 38m at 1.41 g/t gold in ST08, 2m at 
35.2 g/t gold within 38m at 2.88 g/t gold in ST13, and 24m at 
1.31 g/t gold and 54m at 0.84 g/t gold in ST18.

Further trenching extended the zone of gold mineralisation 
and identified a new zone. Widely spaced step-out trenches 
about 1km south of ST18 returned broad low-grade gold 
intercepts of 16m at 0.36 g/t Au in ST28 and 12m at 
0.25 g/t Au and 26m at 0.35 g/t Au in ST34.

The new zone of gold mineralisation lies on the north-
eastern side of the prospect. Several widely spaced 
trenches completed over the gold-soil anomalies here 
returned up to 10m at 0.65 g/t Au and 4m at 1.30 g/t Au in 
ST29 and 16m at 0.64 g/t Au in ST30.

Soro remains open to the south and ground magnetics 
and electrical geophysics conducted in early 2011 
showed coincident low magnetic and high resistivity and 
chargeability zones beneath the gold-multielement soil 
anomalies. This further supports the potential for gold 
mineralisation at depth.

Figure	6
Soro	Trench	Plan	&	Gold	Intersections	and	
Gold-Soil Anomalies

regional Work – Reconnaissance was conducted at Poja 
and Boke in the northern and western part of the license 
area respectively. No significant anomalies were defined.

BiMA TrenCH SAMPling – SOrO PrOSPeCT
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Review of Activities
for year ended 31 December 2011

aisasjur Project – anglo strategic 
alliance (arx – 20%)
The Company’s Strategic Alliance with the global 
mining major, Anglo American PLC (‘Anglo’), was further 
strengthened during the year by the issuance of two new 
exploration licenses in West Papua to its local Indonesian 
partner. The Alliance now holds nearly 3,000km2 of highly 
prospective ground in the same region that hosts the 
Grasberg mining district – Indonesia’s largest copper-gold 
producer.

The Strategic Alliance extends through to 2014 and was 
formed to jointly explore for copper-gold deposits in 
Papua and West Papua provinces. under the terms of the 
agreement, Anglo is responsible for managing and funding 

all work on the projects up to the point of a decision to mine 
following which Arc is then required to contribute on a pro-
rata basis for its 20% interest.

The Alliance gives ARX exposure to a highly prospective 
area that would otherwise be beyond its reach and holds 
unique significance and value for ARX as it provides 
huge exploration upside without diverting funding and 
management focus away from other projects in Indonesia.

Processing the forestry use permits (“Ijin Pinjam Pakai”) 
necessary to conduct further ground work is in progress 
for the three license areas. In the meantime Anglo plans to 
fly an airborne magnetic and radiometrics survey to identify 
further targets.

Figure	7
Papua	Alliance	IUP	Location	Plan
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PrOJeCT TeneMenT STATuS
for year ended 31 December 2011

arx Project Tenement status

Tenement License (IUP) Type Area (ha) ARX interest

Trenggalek Exploration 30,044 95% Joint Venture

Bima Exploration 24,980 Revoked 28 January 2012

West	Papua Exploration 99,410 20% Strategic Alliance

Exploration 99,410 20% Strategic Alliance

Exploration 100,000 20% Strategic Alliance

The information in this report that relates to Exploration Results is based on information compiled by Mr. Brad Wake, who is a member of the 
Australian Institute of Geoscientists. Mr. Wake has sufficient experience which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under 
consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2004 Edition of the ‘Australasian 
Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves.’ Mr. Wake is a full time employee of Arc Exploration Limited 
and consents to the inclusion in this report of the matters based on his information in the form and context in which it appears.

Trenggalek Project: Best Mineralised Drill Intercepts

Hole id Prospect

Coordinates

dip  Az.

final 
depth 

(m)
from 
(m)

To 
(m)

interval 
(m)

Au
g/t

Ag
g/t

Core 
rec 
(%)mn me rl

trDD046 Suruh 9,105,295 569,101 222 -55° 180° 270.5 65.0 69.0 4.0 0.55 3.5 100%

trDD047 Suruh 9,105,171 569,025 261 -45° 225° 301.1 77.7 93.8 16.1 0.18 3 100%

trDD048 timahan 9,099,525 572,514 649 -45° 320° 113.3 64.3 70.8 6.5 0.17 1 100%

trDD049 Kojan 9,102,320 564,056 855 -60° 079° 223.5 104.2 105.3 1.1 1.39 40 100%

trDD050 timahan 9,099,667 572,129 624 -45° 131° 130.8 72.5 74.0 1.5 0.18 <1 100%

trDD051 Kojan 9,102,319 564,055 855 -52° 116° 210.4 126.0 132.5 6.5 0.17 1 91%

trDD052 timahan 9,099,420 572,021 700 -45° 120° 70.85 13.35 23.5 10.25 0.21 <1 90%

trDD053 timahan 9,098,948 572,239 708 -45° 085° 108.3 4.6 17.6 13.0 0.23 1 100%

Notes:

1) Assay results are from half-core samples split with a power saw. Logging, allocation of sample intervals, sampling and dispatching 
were done under the strict control of the Company’s geologists.

2) Sample preparation and analyses were conducted by P.T. Intertek Utama Services in Jakarta.
3) Gold assayed by 50g Fire Assay/AAS Finish.
4) Silver assayed by Mixed Acid Digest/ICP Finish.
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COrPOrATe gOvernAnCe
for year ended 31 December 2011

Corporate Governance
As a listed company with the Australian Securities exchange (ASX), the company must report on its main 
corporate governance practices by reference to the principles and recommendations of the ASX Corporate 
governance council.

This report is prepared with reference to the 2nd Edition of the Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations 
with 2010 Amendments.

recommendation 1.1
Companies should establish the functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to senior executives and 
disclose those functions.

The Board of Directors has been charged by shareholders with overseeing the affairs of the Group to ensure that they are 
conducted appropriately and in the interests of all shareholders. The Board defines the strategic goals and objectives of 
the Group, as well as broad issues of policy and establishes an appropriate framework of Corporate Governance within 
which the Board members and management must operate. The Board reviews and monitors management and the Group’s 
performance. The Board is responsible for ensuring the maintenance of Corporate Governance policies and procedures in 
accordance with prevailing best practices and within legal and social requirements. The Board has also taken responsibility 
for establishing control and accountability systems/processes and for monitoring senior executive performance and 
implementation of strategy.

Management is charged with the day to day running and administration of the Group consistent with the objectives and 
policies as set down by the Board. Within this framework, the Managing Director is directly accountable to the Board for 
the performance of the management team. Mr. John Carlile was appointed as Managing Director on 14 January 2008.

recommendation 1.2
Companies should disclose the process for evaluating the performance of senior executives.

Each of the Company’s senior executives report directly to the Managing Director. The Board and the Managing Director 
closely monitor the performance of individual senior executives.

Formal evaluation of senior executives has not been undertaken. The senior executive team is small and works closely with 
the Board as required allowing Board members to continuously and directly monitor the performance of individual senior 
executives and to provide input directly where appropriate.

recommendation 1.3
Companies should provide the information indicated in the guide to reporting on Principal 1.

The Company has provided this information.

recommendation 2.1
A majority of the Board should be independent directors.

The Company’s Board is comprised of a majority of independent Directors. The Board is currently comprised of the 
Bruce Watson: independent Non-Executive Chairman, John Carlile: Managing Director and two independent Non-Executive 
Directors: George Tahija and Robert Willcocks.

recommendation 2.2
The Chair should be an independent director.

The Chairman (Bruce Watson) of the Company is an independent Director.

recommendation 2.3
The roles of Chair and Chief executive Officer should not be exercised by the same individual.

The roles of Chair and Managing Director are not exercised by the same individual.
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Corporate GovernanCe
for year ended 31 December 2011

recommendation 2.4
The Board should establish a nomination Committee.

The Board has not maintained a formally constituted Nomination Committee. Where a vacancy arises or it is considered 
appropriate to vary the composition of the Board of Directors, the full Board generally participates in any review of the 
Board’s composition and the qualifications and experience of candidates. Directors are selected upon the basis of their 
specialist skills and business background so as to provide an appropriate mix of skills, perspective and business experience.

Directors are not appointed for a fixed term but are, excluding any Managing Director, subject to re-election by shareholders 
at least every three years in accordance with the Constitution of the Company.

The Directors’ terms of appointment are governed by the Constitution of the Company. A Director appointed to fill a casual 
vacancy or as an addition to the Board, only holds office until the next general meeting of members and must then retire. 
After providing for the foregoing, one-third of the remaining Directors (excluding the Managing Director) must retire at each 
Annual General Meeting of members.

recommendation 2.5
Companies should disclose the process for evaluating the performance of the board, its committees 
and individual directors.

The Company does not have a formal process for evaluating the performance of the Board, its committees or individual directors.

The Board believes that this is appropriate given the size of the Board and the geographic split with two of the Directors being 
permanently based in Indonesia. Given the size of the Board and the nature and extent of the Company’s operations the 
Directors work closely together and provide feedback in respect of Board performance to the Chairman on an ongoing basis.

recommendation 2.6
Companies should provide the information indicated in the guide to reporting on Principal 2.

The Company has provided this information.

recommendation 3.1
Companies should establish a code of conduct and disclose the code or a summary of the code as to:

 – the practices necessary to maintain confidence in the Company’s integrity;

 – the practices necessary to take into account their legal obligations and the reasonable expectations 
of their stakeholders;

 – the responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting and investigating reports of unethical practices.

The Company has established a Director’s Code of Conduct. In addition the Company maintains a Code of Ethics 
which extends to govern the conduct of Directors and the Executive of the Group in both Australia and Indonesia.

The Director’s Code of Conduct and the Company’s Code on Ethics are reproduced on the Company’s website.

recommendation 3.2
Companies should establish a policy concerning diversity and disclose the policy or a summary of that policy. 
The policy should include requirements for the board to establish measurable objectives for achieving gender 
diversity for the board to assess annually both the objectives and progress in achieving them.

The Company has established a Diversity Policy Statement which is available on the Company’s website.

recommendation 3.3
Companies should disclose in each annual report the measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity 
set by the board in accordance with the diversity policy and progress towards achieving them.

The Company is committed to promoting a culture of diversity in the workplace including gender diversity.

The number of women participating throughout the workplace is reviewed on an annual basis and reported to the Board.

The Company’s policies and procedures are reviewed on an annual basis to ensure that they adequately focus on the 
participation of women in the workforce.
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Corporate GovernanCe
for year ended 31 December 2011

Women are considered for all positions in the Company extending from field assistants through to senior management 
and the Board as and when opportunities or vacancies arise.

The Company aims to achieve gender diversity across all levels of its organisation subject to the availability of suitably 
qualified candidates.

recommendation 3.4
Companies should disclose in each annual report the proportion of women employees in the whole organisation, 
women in senior executive positions and women on the board.

The whole organisation is comprised of:

a. four people in Australia of which one is a women; and

b. thirty people in Indonesia of which four are women.

The Company’s Financial Controller is a women.

The Company has a Board of four of which none are women.

recommendation 3.5
Companies should provide the information indicated in the guide to reporting on Principal 3.

The Company has provided this information.

recommendation 4.1
The Board should establish an Audit Committee.

The Board has established an Audit Committee which is responsible for ensuring compliance with all appropriate 
accounting standards and the integrity of related reporting obligations.

The Committee is also responsible for reviewing the Group’s internal financial controls, and for maintaining open lines 
for communication between the Board and the external auditors, independently of management.

All Audit Committee deliberations are routinely reported to the full Board at the earliest opportunity and any action taken, 
or proposal made, is submitted to the full Board for ratification or approval and implementation.

recommendation 4.2
The Audit Committee should be structured so that it:

 – consists only of non-executive directors;

 – consists of a majority of independent directors;

 – is chaired by an independent chair, who is not chair of the Board;

 – has at least three members.

The Company has established an Audit Committee however the committee does not meet with the requirements of 
this recommendation due to the limited number of directors available to form this committee and the positions that 
each of the directors hold. The committee is comprised of two members being Mr. Bruce Watson (the Chairman) and 
Mr. Robert Willcocks (a Non-Executive Director). Given the size of the Company and the Board, the Audit Committee 
is made up of only two members, while other Directors and the Company’s external auditors may be invited to attend 
Audit Committee meetings at the discretion of the Audit Committee.

recommendation 4.3
The Audit Committee should have a formal charter.

The Company has a formal Audit Committee Charter which has been approved by the Board of Directors.

recommendation 4.4
Companies should provide the information indicated in the guide to reporting on Principal 4.

The Company has provided this information.
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recommendation 5.1
establish written policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance with ASX listing rule disclosure 
requirements and to ensure accountability at a senior executive level for that compliance and disclose those 
policies or a summary of those policies.

Currently the Managing Director and the Company Secretary are charged with the responsibility to ensure compliance with 
ASX Listing Rule disclosure requirements and to ensure accountability at a senior management level for that compliance. 
The Board has approved a Continuous Disclosure Policy which is reproduced on the Company’s website.

recommendation 5.2
Companies should provide the information indicated in the guide to reporting on Principal 5.

The Company has provided this information.

recommendation 6.1
Companies should design a communications policy to promote effective communication with shareholders and 
encouraging effective participation at general meetings and disclose their policy or a summary of that policy.

The Company has not established a formal policy for communicating with shareholders. Information is communicated to the 
members through compliance with ASX Listing Rules and the Corporations Act 2001, by way of announcements to the ASX, 
media releases, the Annual Report, Half-Yearly Report, the Annual General Meeting and other meetings that may be called 
from time to time. The Company maintains a website which provides a description of the Group’s projects and all material 
announcements released to the ASX.

recommendation 6.2
Companies should provide the information indicated in the guide to reporting on Principal 6.

The Company has provided this information.

recommendation 7.1
Companies should establish policies for the oversight and management of material business risks and disclose 
a summary of those policies.

There are inherent risks associated with exploration and in particular in operating in overseas countries. The Board continuously 
reviews the activities of the Group to identify key business and operational risks and, where possible, will implement policies 
and procedures to address such risks. The Company has adopted a Risk Management Statement and a Financial and 
Commodity Risk Management Policy. The Risk Management Statement is reproduced on the Company’s website.

The Board is provided with regular reporting on the management of operations and the financial condition of the Group 
aimed at ensuring that risks are identified, assessed and appropriately managed as and when they arise.

recommendation 7.2
The board should require management to design and implement the risk management and internal control 
system to manage the company’s material business risks and report to it on whether those risks are being 
managed effectively. The Board should disclose that management has reported to it as to the effectiveness 
of the company’s management of its material business risks.

The Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer (Cahyono Halim) are both based in Jakarta and manage the 
implementation of risk management and internal control systems to manage the company’s material business risks. 
Management has confirmed to the Board that the Company’s risk management and internal compliance and control 
system is operating efficiently and effectively in all material respects.

There are inherent risks associated with exploration and particularly in Indonesia where a new Mining Law and regulations 
have recently been introduced.
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recommendation 7.3
The board should disclose whether it has received assurance from the chief executive officer (or equivalent) 
and the chief financial officer (or equivalent) that the declaration required in accordance with section 295A 
of the Corporations Act is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal control and that the 
system is operating effectively in all material respects in relation to financial reporting risks.

The Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer have provided section 295A statements to the Board and confirmed to 
the Board that the Company’s risk management and internal compliance and control system is operating efficiently and 
effectively in all material respects.

The design and implementation of risk management and internal control systems to enhance the Company’s financial 
reporting processes is an ongoing process.

recommendation 7.4
Companies should provide the information indicated in the guide to reporting on Principal 7.

The Company has provided this information.

recommendation 8.1
The Board should establish a remuneration Committee.

The Board has not maintained a formal Remuneration Committee due to the limited number of directors available and the 
positions that each of the directors hold. Remuneration matters are dealt with by the full Board of Directors. The full Board 
of Directors is responsible for establishing and reviewing the remuneration for the Managing Director.

recommendation 8.2
The remuneration committee should be structured so that it:

 – consists of a majority of independent directors

 – is chaired by an independent chair

 – has at least three members.

The Board has not maintained a formal Remuneration Committee.

recommendation 8.3
Companies should clearly distinguish the structure of non-executive director’s remuneration from that of 
executive directors and senior executives.

The Board has previously set the remuneration of Non-Executive Directors which is within the aggregate amount approved 
for such remuneration by shareholders. All Non-Executive Directors are entitled to remuneration of $30,000 each per annum 
(plus statutory superannuation where applicable) inclusive of Committee responsibilities. The Chairman receives remuneration 
of $45,000 per annum (plus statutory superannuation). No retirement benefits are payable to Non-Executive Directors.

The Board has determined the level of remuneration for the Managing Director taking into account his experience, the nature 
of his responsibilities, the Group’s objectives and market conditions.

The Group has employed a number of executives both in Australia and in Indonesia who are key to achieving the 
Company’s objectives. The Board determines the remuneration policies applicable to the limited number of employees in 
Australia. The remuneration of employees in Indonesia is determined by the President Director of the Company’s operating 
subsidiaries in conjunction with the Managing Director taking into account each employees experience, the nature of 
responsibilities, and both market and country conditions. Officers and employees in both Australia and Indonesia are entitled 
to participate in the Company’s Employee and Contractor Options Plan.

recommendation 8.4
Companies should provide the information indicated in the guide to reporting on Principal 8.

The Company has provided this information.
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direCTOrS’ rePOrT
for year ended 31 December 2011

Annual Consolidated Financial Report 
for the year ended 31 december 2011

The directors present their report together with the financial statements of the consolidated entity (the ‘Group’) 
consisting of Arc Exploration Limited (the ‘Company’) and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year 
ended 31 December 2011.

Directors
The following persons were directors of Arc Exploration Limited during the year and until the date of this report. 
Directors were in office for this entire period unless otherwise stated.

Name Period of Directorship

Executive

Mr. John C. Carlile (Managing Director) Director since 1998
Appointed Managing Director January 2008

Non-Executive

Mr. Bruce J. Watson
(Chairman of the Board and the Audit Committee)

Director 1998-2001, Director since 2005
Appointed Chairman (Board and Audit Committee) 2005

Mr. George S. Tahija Director since 1998

Mr. Robert M. Willcocks Director since July 2008

Principal activities
During the year, the principal activities of Arc Exploration Limited and its controlled entities were:

 – the undertaking of gold exploration at Trenggalek (East Java) and Bima (East Sumbawa); and

 – providing support to Anglo American to undertake copper/gold exploration on the Strategic Alliance project area 
in West Papua.

review of operations

Exploration
Arc Exploration Limited (“ArX”) is exploring for gold, silver and base metal deposits along Indonesia’s highly prospective 
magmatic arcs and related terranes. The primary exploration targets are high-grade epithermal gold-silver and porphyry 
copper-gold deposits.

Trenggalek Project, East Java (Arc – 95%)

ARX operates a joint venture with its local Indonesian partner, P.T. Sumber Mineral Nusantara, which holds the Trenggalek 
exploration license covering an area of 30,044 hectares in the Southern Mountains of East Java.

The Southern Mountains lie within the Sunda-Banda magmatic arc and is highly prospective for epithermal gold and 
porphyry copper-gold deposits. This terrane has potential to emerge into a major new mineral belt, as demonstrated by 
the large copper-gold discovery made by Intrepid Mines at Tujuh Bukit in a similar package of rocks located on the eastern 
side of the Southern Mountains.

Gold mineralisation at Trenggalek occurs in epithermal quartz vein systems associated with fossilised hot spring features 
such as hydrothermal breccias, silica cappings and sinters. These are hosted in a package of Oligo-Miocene volcaniclastic 
rocks, limestone and subvolcanic plugs. The license area is also prospective for replacement-style gold mineralisation in 
silicified limestone (“jasperoid”) and deeper porphyry-related copper-gold systems.

Potential for porphyry-related copper-gold mineralisation was also demonstrated in the project area with an intersection of 
27m at 0.2% Cu & 0.49 g/t Au obtained in hole TRDD-25 at Buluroto.

Summary	Description	of	Work	Completed	and	Results:

Further surface prospecting and 1,429m diamond drilling were undertaken during the year. The surface work produced 
several new prospects and the drilling confirmed the presence of low-grade gold mineralisation beneath two brecciated 
and silicified cap rock targets. Consultation continued with the Indonesian Ministry of Forestry for the renewal of the forestry 
use permit (“Ijin Pinjam Pakai”).
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review of operations (continued)

Suruh – An area of silicified hydrothermal breccias and residual sinter boulders measuring about 400m by 200m with strong 
coincident gold and arsenic-antimony anomalism in soil. Continuous chip sampling on stockworked volcanics surrounding 
the breccia capping produced broad low-grade gold intercepts including 14m at 0.16 g/t Au, 26m at 0.16 g/t Au, and 20m at 
0.3 g/t Au. Sampling within the breccia capping returned low gold but elevated arsenic-antimony geochemistry.

Two angled diamond holes tested the eastern side of the breccia capping and a chargeability anomaly. These intersected 
low-grade gold in thinly quartz veined, altered volcanic rocks beneath the breccia, including down-hole gold intercepts of 
4m at 0.55 g/t Au in TRDD046 and 16.1m at 0.18 g/t Au in TRDD047.

A stronger zone of chargeability and elevated gold-soil geochemistry located in production forest on the western side of the 
prospect is yet to be drill tested.

Timahan – An area of jasperoid measuring about 2km by 3km with coincident gold and arsenic-antimony anomalism in soil 
overlies altered volcaniclastic rocks intruded by volcanic plugs. Continuous chip sampling on two separate zones on the 
eastern side of the prospect returned broad low-grade gold intercepts including 28m at 0.29 g/t Au and 13m at 0.74 g/t Au.

Four angled diamond holes tested the two stockwork zones. Three holes intersected zones of low-grade gold mineralisation 
in thinly quartz veined jasperoid with down-hole gold intercepts of 10.25m at 0.21 g/t Au in TRDD052 (Macan Zone) and 
13m at 0.23 g/t Au in TRDD053 (Genteng Zone).

These holes tested only a small part of the Timahan prospect. The intercepts reported in these initial holes may represent 
haloes of low-grade mineralisation surrounding possible higher grade feeder structures in the upper levels of an epithermal 
gold system. The strongest gold-soil anomalies lie in production forest on the southern and western side of the prospect 
and are yet to be drill tested.

Kojan – Comprises multiple gold-bearing parallel quartz veins up to 5m wide that have a collective strike length of 
several kilometres. Two angled holes were drilled on the kenong Vein about 50m down-dip and along strike of a previous 
hole, TRDD035, which returned a high grade down-hole gold-silver intercept of 1.9m at 11.28 g/t Au & 293 g/t Ag in a 
previous program.

Both holes returned narrow low-grade gold-silver intercepts of 1.1m at 1.39 g/t Au & 40 g/t Ag in TRDD049 and 
6.5m at 0.17 g/t Au & 1 g/t Ag in TRDD051, indicating that the vein has pinched at its southern extremity.

upper Jombok – High-grade vein float sheds from colluvium at this prospect. Soil sampling produced a weakly elevated 
gold and arsenic anomaly measuring 100m by 200m. Shallow pits to test this anomaly intersected colluvium containing 
banded quartz-chalcedony vein cobbles overlying weakly veined volcaniclastic rocks. Grab samples of the vein cobbles 
returned up to 16.5 g/t gold and chip samples of the weakly veined bedrock returned up to 0.78 g/t gold.

Paces – An area of narrow quartz veining centred on a volcanic plug above upper Jombok. Soil sampling produced 
an arsenic anomaly with spotty highs associated with banded quartz-chalcedony vein float cobbles (<10–30cm wide), 
erratically scattered over a 100m by 200m area. Selective grab sampling of the vein float returned up to 13.3 g/t gold 
and 87 g/t silver. A small outcrop of veined sandstone located on the eastern side of the prospect returned 1.63 g/t gold.

The high-grade vein float shedding from colluvium at upper Jombok may be sourced from Paces. There is potential at 
Paces for a shallow bulk tonnage gold target associated with narrow veins and stockwork.

Sumber Bening – This new prospect, located within a 4km circular feature on the western side of the license area, 
comprises an extensive area (+2km by 1km) of silica-clay-pyrite alteration with localised pods of vughy silica-hematite/
specularite-pyrite alteration.

Initial grab sampling of altered boulders and outcrops returned assays of up to 0.14 ppm gold and anomalous 
gold-pathfinder elements that include bismuth (up to 1,410ppm Bi), copper (up to 277pm Cu) and molybdenum 
(up to 37ppm Mo). The extent of the alteration and the coincident geochemical anomalies in vughy silica and clay-pyrite 
altered quartz-eye porphyry rocks are particularly encouraging. These may represent an alteration lithocap over buried 
mineralised porphyry intrusions.

Bogoran – This new prospect lies on major structural lineaments that extend along the eastern side of Timahan Prospect.

Two jasperoid zones measuring 400m by 20m and 200m by 80m occur at the northern end of the prospect and several 
narrow zones of NE- and NNW-trending quartz veining up to 500m long occur in andesite on the southern and eastern sides 
of the prospect. The host structures may coalesce into broader zones of mineralisation that have bulk tonnage potential.

Initial grab sampling from float and outcrops produced elevated gold in jasperoid and in narrow epithermal quartz veins 
cutting andesite porphyry. Thirty-seven of 60 rock samples returned gold assays ranging from 0.1 to 2.96 g/t gold (average 
0.43 g/t gold). One grab sample taken from a 20cm wide banded quartz-limonite vein returned a gold result of 23.3 g/t Au.
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Bima	Project,	East	Sumbawa	(Arc	–	95%)

The Company operates another joint venture with P.T. SMN. The Bima exploration license covers an area of 24,980 hectares 
in East Sumbawa, West Nusa Tenggara Province.

The Bima Project is located about 230km east of Newmont’s Batu Hijau porphyry copper-gold deposit and lies on the same 
segment of the Sunda-Banda magmatic arc. Targets identified are gold and base metal-rich intermediate-sulphidation 
epithermal veins, disseminated gold jasperoid, and gold-rich high-sulphidation lithocaps hosted in a package of volcanic 
and sedimentary rocks that may be related to deeper porphyry copper-gold targets.

Work was interrupted early in the year due to local civil disturbances. The Company undertook a further extensive series 
of meetings, presentations and discussions with the local communities and Government authorities to further explain work 
plans and address any concerns. The decision to recommence field work was made late in the year following positive 
responses from the local communities and Government authorities.

Exploration activities were again halted in December due to anti-mining demonstrations at the nearby port of Sape. The 
demonstrators stated that they opposed all exploration and mining and demanded the revocation of P.T. SMN’s exploration 
licence. The demonstrators blockaded the port of Sape and a police action to re-open the port on 24 December 2011 
resulted in two reported fatalities. Further demonstrations in Bima on 26 January 2012 resulted in the destruction of a 
number of buildings including the office of the Regent of Bima.

The Company’s Indonesian partner was advised by the Regent of Bima that the exploration licence was suspended 
and subsequently revoked on 31 December 2011 and on 28 January 2012, respectively.

ARX and PT SMN were in full compliance with all legal and regulatory license requirements when the license was 
suspended and subsequently revoked. PT SMN proposes to challenge the revocation of the Bima exploration licence 
based on legal advice received.

Summary	Description	of	Work	Completed	and	Results:

Due to the disturbances only limited surface exploration was undertaken. This included prospecting, drainage and soil 
sampling, and trenching.

Soro – Comprises a 4km by 2km area of jasperoid cut by localised epithermal quartz-chalcedony-sulphide stockworks. 
Work in 2010 identified extensive gold-multi-element soil anomalies and significant gold intercepts in trenches, including 
38m at 1.41 g/t gold in ST08, 2m at 35.2 g/t gold within 38m at 2.88 g/t gold in ST13, and 24m at 1.31 g/t gold and 54m at 
0.84 g/t gold in ST18.

Further trenching extended the zone of gold mineralisation and identified a new zone. Widely spaced step-out trenches 
about 1km south of ST18 returned broad low-grade gold intercepts of 16m at 0.36 g/t Au in ST28 and 12m at 0.25 g/t Au 
and 26m at 0.35 g/t Au in ST34.

The new zone of gold mineralisation lies on the north-eastern side of the prospect. Several widely spaced trenches 
completed over the gold-soil anomalies here returned up to 10m at 0.65 g/t Au and 4m at 1.30 g/t Au in ST29 and 
16m at 0.64 g/t Au in ST30.

Soro remains open to the south and ground magnetics and electrical geophysics conducted in early 2011 showed 
coincident low magnetic and high resistivity and chargeability zones beneath the gold-multielement soil anomalies. 
This further supports the potential for gold mineralisation at depth.

regional Work – Reconnaissance was conducted at Poja and Boke in the northern and western part of the license 
area respectively. No significant anomalies were defined.

Aisasjur	Project	–	Anglo	Strategic	Alliance	(Arc	–	20%)

The Company’s Strategic Alliance with the global mining major, Anglo American PLC (‘Anglo’), was further strengthened 
during the year by the issuance of two new exploration licenses in West Papua to its local Indonesian partner. The Alliance 
now holds nearly 3,000km2 of highly prospective ground in the same region that hosts the Grasberg mining district – 
Indonesia’s largest copper-gold producer.

The Strategic Alliance extends through to 2014 and was formed to jointly explore for copper-gold deposits in Papua and 
West Papua provinces. under the terms of the agreement, Anglo is responsible for managing and funding all work on the 
projects up to the point of a decision to mine following which Arc is then required to contribute on a pro-rata basis for its 
20% interest.
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review of operations (continued)

The Alliance gives ARX exposure to a highly prospective area that would otherwise be beyond its reach and holds unique 
significance and value for ARX as it provides huge exploration upside without diverting funding and management focus 
away from other projects in Indonesia.

Processing the forestry use permits (“Ijin Pinjam Pakai”) necessary to conduct further ground work is in progress for the three 
license areas. In the meantime Anglo plans to fly an airborne magnetic and radiometrics survey to identify further targets.

Consolidated Results
The net result of operations for the year was a loss of $3,245,959 (2010: loss of $2,686,180).

significant Changes in the state of affairs
In the opinion of the Directors there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group that occurred during the 
financial year not otherwise disclosed in this Review of Operations in this report or the consolidated financial statements. 
Attention is drawn to the revocation of the Bima exploration licence as referred to in the Review of Operations.

Matters subsequent to end of the Financial Year
As a result of demonstrations in December 2011 and again in January 2012, the exploration license at Bima was revoked 
in January 2012 even though the Group and it’s joint venture partner had always been in full compliance with all legal 
and regulatory license requirements. The revocation of the Bima exploration licence is a disappointment for the Group, 
particularly as surface results had been so encouraging. The company has obtained legal advice on the revocation of the 
Bima IuP and proposes to challenge the revocation of the exploration licence.

Notwithstanding the situation at Bima, ARX is in a relatively strong cash position and is reviewing both its existing operations 
and new opportunities in Indonesia.

In addition, the Company is examining new opportunities outside of Indonesia to spread its project and country risk profile. 
The Company has taken steps to reduce its cash burn rate while these new opportunities are being explored.

Other than the matters discussed above, there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and 
the date of this report any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Directors 
of the Company, to affect significantly the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of 
the Group, in future financial years.

likely Developments and expected results of operations
Likely developments in the operations of the Group include reduced exploration activity in Indonesia while the Group 
considers its alternatives following the revocation of the Bima exploration licence. Attention is drawn to this matter as 
referred to in the Review of Operations.

Dividends
No dividend has been declared, or paid, by the Company since the end of the previous financial year.
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statement of Interests of Directors
As at the date of this report, the interests of the Directors and their associates in the issued shares and options of the 
Company were:

Directors Shares

Director	&	
Employee 

Options

Listed
Options
ARXOA

Listed
Options

ARXO

Bruce Watson 13,349,907 5,383,766 – 18,000

George Tahija 10,597,474 3,589,177 – 324,675

John Carlile 19,679,593 16,151,298 – 73,511

Robert Willcocks 4,125,000 3,589,177 – –

47,751,974 28,713,418 – 416,186

Indemnities and Insurance of Directors, officers and auditors
In accordance with the Constitution of the Company, to the extent permitted by law, the Company indemnifies every director, 
officer and employee of the Company and each officer of a related body Corporate of the Company against any liability 
incurred by that person:

a. in his or her capacity as a director, officer or employee of the Company; and

b.  to a person other than the Company or a related body corporate of the Company.

During the year, the Company also entered into an agreement with their current auditors, kPMG, indemnifying them against 
claims by third parties arising from their report on the Annual Financial Report, except where the liability arises out of 
conduct involving a lack of good faith.

Arc Exploration Limited during the financial year, paid an insurance premium in respect of an insurance policy for the benefit 
the Directors of the Company, Company Secretaries, executive officers and employees of the Company and any subsidiary 
bodies corporate as defined in the insurance policy, against a liability incurred as such a director, company secretary, 
executive officer or employee to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001.

In accordance with commercial practice, the insurance policy prohibits disclosure of the terms of the policy including the 
nature of the liability insured against and the amount of the premium.

Details of Directors (as at the date of this report)
Mr. John C. Carlile – Mr. Carlile is a geologist with a BSc. (Hons) degree in Geology from the university of Reading 
and a MSc. (DIC) in Mineral Exploration from the Royal School of Mines, university of London. Mr. Carlile is a Fellow of 
The Aus.I.M.M. and Geo.Soc.Lond. He has over 25 years experience in the mining industry, primarily in gold exploration, 
and has previously held senior positions in the Asian region with major mining companies including BHP and Newcrest 
Mining Limited.

Mr. Carlile was appointed as a Director of the Company on 3 March, 1998 and was the Managing Director and Chief 
Executive Officer of the Company until 17 November 2002. From 18 November 2002 until 13 January 2008 Mr. Carlile was 
a Non-Executive Director. On 14 January 2008 Mr. Carlile was appointed Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of 
the Company. Mr. Carlile was formerly a Director of Castlemaine Goldfields Limited and formerly Chairman of PEARL Energy 
Limited, a Singapore company focused on oil and gas exploration and production in South-East Asia.

Mr. Bruce J. Watson – Mr. Watson is the Managing Director of Cubic Corporate Advisory Pty. Limited and was previously 
Head, Corporate Advisory & Equities at Westpac Institutional Bank and prior to that a founding director of Grant Samuel 
& Associates Pty. Limited. Mr. Watson has a diverse and comprehensive background across the Australian banking and 
investment community and a high level of technical capability within the core areas of legal and financial structuring. 
Mr. Watson was also formerly a director of Arc Exploration Limited from 1998 until April 2001.

Mr. Watson was appointed as a Director of the Company on 3 April 2005 and as Non-Executive Chairman on 23 June 2005. 
Mr. Watson is also a member of the Audit Committee. He holds degrees in Commerce and Law.

Mr. george S. Tahija – Mr. Tahija is the President Director of the Austindo Group of Indonesia. His qualifications include a 
BSc. in Mechanical Engineering from Trisakti university, Jakarta, Indonesia and an MBA from the university of Virginia, uSA. 
He has extensive involvement in the principal activities of the Austindo Group of Indonesia which include agriculture and 
health care.

Mr. Tahija was appointed as a Director of the Company on 3 March 1998.
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Details of Directors (continued)

Mr. robert M. Willcocks – Mr. Willcocks is a former senior partner with Mallesons Stephen Jaques, a major Australian law 
firm and is now a corporate adviser. Mr. Willcocks has represented clients in the energy and mining sectors for more than 
30 years. He has a Bachelor of Arts and Bachelor of Laws (Australian National university) and Master of Laws (university 
of Sydney).

Mr Willcocks is and has been a director of a number of listed and unlisted public companies.

Mr. Willcocks was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of the Company on 14 July 2008, and is also a member of the 
Audit Committee.

Company Secretary
Mr. Andrew J. Cooke llB, fAiCS

Mr. Cooke has extensive experience in law, corporate finance and as a Company Secretary of listed resource companies. 
He is responsible for corporate administration together with stock exchange and regulatory compliance.

Directorships of Other Listed Companies
Directorships of other listed companies held by current directors in the 3 years immediately before the end of the financial 
year are as follows:

Director Company Period of Directorship

Bruce Watson Orion Petroleum Limited Director from April 2011 to June 2011

George Tahija Nil –

John Carlile Nil –

Robert Willcocks CBH Resources Limited Director from December 2000 to September 2010

APAC Resources Limited Director since July 2007

Mt Gibson Iron Limited Alternate Director from December 2008 to February 2011

Orion Petroleum Limited Director from April 2010 to June 2011

Living Cell Technologies Limited Director from March 2011
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remuneration report
a. Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration (audited)

key management personnel have authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the 
Company and the Group. key management personnel comprise the directors of the Company and executives for the 
Company and the Group including the five most highly remunerated Company and Group executives.

The Company’s policy in respect of senior executives is to remunerate them on the basis of their job function, taking into 
account their qualifications and experience. The level of remuneration is determined by the Executive Management in 
consultation with the Board taking into account the position and responsibilities for which each senior executive is charged.

The Group’s remuneration policy is not based on the Group’s earnings as the Group to date has no earnings.

The objective of the Board has been to minimise the number of senior executives it employs to maintain the total remuneration 
of such executives at a level that is commensurate with the resources of the Group and the level of activity undertaken.

From time to time, the Board considers the issue of options to employees and contractors as an additional incentive for 
them to generate shareholder wealth and for them to participate in the success of the Company. In the past, options have 
been priced at a premium above market at the time of grant. No Directors have entered into hedging strategies with regard 
to the options.

Non-Executive	Directors

The Chairman (non-executive) receives directors fees of $45,000 per annum. Other non-executive directors receive directors 
fees of $30,000 per annum. The level of remuneration is based on an approximate time cost basis. The Board considers 
that this policy is appropriate with the resources and activities of a small exploration company. Total remuneration for 
all non-executive directors was last voted on by shareholders at the 2005 Annual General Meeting and is not to exceed 
$250,000 per annum. No additional fees are paid for duties carried out in relation to the Audit Committee. Compulsory 
superannuation contributions of 9% are paid in relation to the directors fees for the Australian based non-executive directors.

under the Employees and Contractors Option Plan of the Group established in 2001, the Board, subject to the Rules of the 
Plan and shareholder approval, may grant options to non-executive directors.

Share Performance and Shareholder Wealth

2011
$

2010
$

2009
$

2008
$

2007
$

Profit (loss) attributable to owners of the Company (3,245,959) (2,686,180) 14,324,739 (30,828,196)  (72,840,722)

Dividends paid – – – – –

Change in share price (0.02) – 0.01 0.01 (0.02)

Return on capital employed – – – – –

Share performance and shareholder wealth are not used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration.

Directors’ post employment benefits

The Company does not have a retirement benefit scheme for non-executive directors.

Executive	directors	and	other	key	management	personnel

Executive remuneration packages comprise a mix of the following components:

 – Fixed remuneration;

 – Long term incentives provided by the issuing of options; and

 – Post employment benefits.

Post employment benefits are accrued for Indonesian executives in accordance with Indonesian Labour Law No. 13/2003 
and are payable upon retirement or termination by the entity.

No short term performance bonuses are payable to executive directors or other key management personnel.
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remuneration report (continued)

The only performance linked compensation in prior periods related to share options issued to Renato Bobis (refer to 
modifications of terms of share options on page 27). These conditions were later amended by the Board of Directors 
on 1 March 2011 and there are no longer any performance linked compensation at 31 December 2011.

Fixed	remuneration

The level of fixed remuneration is set so as to provide a base level of remuneration, which is both appropriate to the 
position and competitive in the market. Fixed remuneration for most executives is comprised of base salary, superannuation 
contributions, and in some cases with Indonesian-based executives includes other benefits such as housing, medical care 
and vehicles.

Long term incentives

The Company issues options either pursuant to shareholder approval or in accordance with Employees and Contractors 
Option Plan (“ECOP”, “Plan”). The ECOP was established in 2001.

i. Options	issued	under	the	Employees	and	Contractors	Option	Plan

The ECOP of the Group was established in 2001.

The objective of the Plan is to provide an opportunity for senior executives and contractors to participate as equity owners in 
the Company and to reward key executives and contractors in a manner which aligns this element of remuneration with the 
creation of shareholder wealth.

At the discretion of the Board and subject to the rules of the Plan, executives may be granted options under the Plan.

No consideration is payable by any person at the time of the granting of the options pursuant to the Plan. Option holders 
must pay the full exercise price to the Company at the time that they elect to exercise any options.

The Directors are permitted to specify the exercise price of options granted pursuant to the Plan. In so doing they may 
specify the exercise price as a fixed amount or as an amount determined by reference to the market price of the shares 
of the Company. In addition the Directors may specify the period within which options may be exercised, any performance 
hurdles that must be satisfied and any other requirements that must be satisfied in relation to the exercise of options.

There are no performance hurdles for any share options granted as at 31 December 2011.

Options granted pursuant to the Plan lapse at the end of any expiry date (if one is specified) or when the option holder 
ceases to be an “Eligible Person” as defined by the Plan.

ii. Options	issued	pursuant	to	shareholder	approval

The objective of issuing such options is to provide an opportunity for directors and senior executives to participate as equity 
owners in the Company and to reward them in a manner which aligns this element of remuneration with the creation of 
shareholder wealth.

Shareholder approval is sought at either the Annual General Meeting or a General Meeting. Such options granted 
typically have an exercise price which is at a premium to a certain period’s volume weighted average price established prior 
to the relevant meeting. The number of options to individual directors and senior executives, pricing and terms of options, is 
at the Board’s discretion, with these option proposals being subject to shareholder approval.

No consideration is payable by any person at the time of the granting of these options approved by shareholders. 
Option holders must pay the full exercise price to the Company at the time that they elect to exercise any options.

Service agreements

Remuneration and other terms of employment for executive directors and senior executives are formalised in service 
agreements. Each of these agreements provide for participation, when eligible, in the Arc Exploration Limited Employee 
& Contractors Option Plan (“ECOP”). The initial term of contract is for 2 years with an option to extend.

All contracts with executives may be terminated early by either party with 3 months notice, subject to termination payments. 
upon termination executive directors and senior executives are entitled to payments of salary and statutory entitlements 
accrued up to and including date of terminations as well as reimbursement of any business related expenses incurred in 
the course of employment. If termination occurs pursuant to Arc Exploration Limited breaching the agreement, entering 
into voluntary administration or a liquidator is appointed then in addition to the standard termination payment the Group 
will pay an amount equal to that proportion of salary which would have been payable to them for a period of three months 
commencing the day after termination.
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b. details of remuneration (audited)

Details of the remuneration of each Director of Arc Exploration Limited and each of the other key management personnel 
(kMP) of the Group are disclosed in accordance with AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures and are set out in the following 
tables. This tables also covers the disclosure of the five named executives who received the highest remuneration as 
required by the Corporations Act 2001.

Name	of	Executive Title Period of Responsibility

John Carlile Managing Director Full year

Cahyono Halim Chief Financial Officer Full year

Andrew Cooke Company Secretary Full year

Brad Wake Exploration Manager Full year

Renato Bobis Chief Generative Geologist Resigned 31 August 2011

Remuneration	details	of	Non-Executive	Directors

2011
Directors Fees

$
Superannuation

$
Options(c)

$
Total

$

Name

Bruce Watson 45,000 4,050 31,539 80,589 

George Tahija(a) – – 21,025 21,025 

Robert Willcocks(b) 30,000 – 21,026 51,026

Total 75,000 4,050 73,590 152,640

a. Mr Tahija has waived his entitlement to directors’ fees, and no amounts were paid to Mr. Tahija for the provision of his 
services during current or previous year.

b. Mr Willcocks elected from 1 April 2010 to be paid through Dunraven Holdings Pty Ltd.

c. The value of options granted during the year was calculated at grant date using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model. 
This model requires assumptions to be made regarding inputs such as volatility. The actual “value” to the option holders 
will depend on the share price at exercise date and cannot be known with certainty until this point.

2010
Directors Fees

$
Superannuation

$
Options(c)

$
Total

$

Name

Bruce Watson 45,000 4,050 28,303 77,353 

George Tahija(a) – – 18,869 18,869 

Robert Willcocks(b) 22,500 8,175 18,869 49,544

Total 67,500 12,225 66,041 145,766

a. Mr Tahija has waived his entitlement to directors’ fees, and no amounts were paid to Mr. Tahija for the provision of his 
services during current or previous year.

b. Mr Willcocks elected up until 31 March 2010 to have his entitlement to fees paid as a superannuation contribution. 
From 1 April 2010 he elected to be paid through Dunraven Holdings Pty Ltd.

c. The value of options granted during the year was calculated at grant date using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model.
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remuneration report (continued)

Other	Key	Management	Personnel	of	the	Group	and	Specified	Remunerated	Executives

Short-term benefits Post-employment benefits
Share	Based	

Payments

2011

Cash	Salary	
and Fees

$

Non-
monetary 

Benefits
$

Super-
annuation

$

Termination 
Benefits

$
Options(a)

$
Total

$

Proportion of 
remuneration	
performance 

related%

Executive	Director

John Carlile  277,999 40,382 10,104 – 94,607 423,092 –

Executives

Cahyono Halim 228,598 6,703 8,094 – 63,073 306,468 –

Andrew Cooke 177,600 – – – 63,073 240,673 –

Brad Wake 223,371 23,405 – – 63,075 309,851 –

Renato Bobis 
(Resigned 31.08.11)(c) 133,173 13,172 – –  32,355 178,700 – 

Total 1,040,741 83,662 18,198 – 316,183 1,458,784 

2010

Executive	Director

John Carlile  329,260  44,196  10,249 –  84,914  468,619  – 

Executives

Cahyono Halim  226,906  9,378  8,244 –  56,608  301,136 –

Andrew Cooke  177,600 – – –  56,608  234,208 –

Anthony Nadalin(b)  40,963 –  3,687 –  22,906  67,556 –

Brad Wake  221,720  26,264 – –  56,608  304,592 –

Renato Bobis(c)  150,230  20,314 –  –  22,731  193,275 5.3%

Total  1,146,679  100,152  22,180 –  300,375  1,569,386 

a. The fair value of options was calculated at grant date using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model.

b. Mr A Nadalin passed away 7 July 2010.

c. Share options granted to Renato Bobis in 2010 had an element which was performance related however these conditions 
were amended on 1 March 2011 and no longer subject to any performance hurdles (refer to modification of terms of 
share options on page 27).

Options

Following shareholder approval at the Annual General Meeting held 27 May 2011 the Company issued 23,290,000 options to 
Directors and Employees at an exercise price of 4.2 cents per share with an expiry date of 27 May 2016. 50% of the options 
have a fair value of 1.8 cents and shall vest on 31 December 2011 and with the remaining 50% to vest on 31 December 2012 
which have a fair value of 1.93 cents.

The total cost of options issued by directors to key management personnel charged to profit and loss for 2011 was $389,773.
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Details of options that were granted or vested during the year to Directors, the 5 highest remunerated executives or key 
management personnel, held directly or beneficially, were as follows:

Number	of	options	
granted	during	the	year

Number	of	options	
vested	during	the	year

2011 2010 2011 2010

Directors

John Carlile 6,165,000 – 8,075,649 4,993,149

Bruce Watson 2,055,000 – 2,691,883 1,664,383

Robert Willcocks 1,370,000 – 1,794,589 1,109,589

George Tahija 1,370,000 – 1,794,589 1,109,589 

Executives

Andrew Cooke 4,110,000 – 5,383,766 3,328,766

Brad Wake 4,110,000 – 5,383,766 3,328,766

Cahyono Halim 4,110,000 – 5,383,766 3,328,766

Anthony Nadalin – 2,219,177 – 2,219,177

Renato Bobis (Resigned 31.08.11) – 3,000,000 3,000,000 –

Total 23,290,000 5,219,177 33,508,008 21,082,184

Modification	of	terms	of	share	options

The original terms of the share options granted to Renato Bobis on the 11 May 2010 was as follows:

 – Exercise price: 4.6 cents

 – Expiry date for all options granted: 31 March 2013

 – Vesting conditions:

 – 1,000,000 to vest upon acquisition of 1st new project identified for the company as a result of the holders generative 
work (Tranche 1)

 – 1,000,000 to vest upon acquisition of 2nd new project identified for the company as a result of the holders generative 
work (Tranche 2)

 – 1,000,000 to vest upon completion of initial 12 month employment (employed as Chief Exploration Geologist effective 
1 April 2010) (Tranche 3)

 – Special conditions: Options which have vested shall not lapse in the event that Renato Bobis does not remain as a 
continuing employee during the term of the option.

On 1 March 2011, the Board of Directors amended the vesting terms such that the 1st and 2nd tranches of 1,000,000 
option each vest upon the completion of Renato Bobis’ initial term of engagement being 1 April 2011. All other items remain 
unchanged. The market price of Arc Exploration Limited on the date of the alteration was 3 cents.
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remuneration report (continued)

Details of the Directors and other key management personnel who have option based remuneration are set out below:

2011
Balance	at	
1	January	

Granted 
during	year

Lapsed 
during	year

Relinquished	
during	year

Exercised 
during	the	

year
Other 

changes*

Balance	at	
31	December

or date ceased 
to	be	KMP	

Directors

John Carlile  9,986,298  6,165,000 – – – –  16,151,298 

Bruce Watson  3,328,766  2,055,000 – – – –  5,383,766 

Robert Willcocks  2,219,177  1,370,000 – – – –  3,589,177 

George Tahija  2,219,177  1,370,000 – – – –  3,589,177 

Executives  

Andrew Cooke  6,657,532  4,110,000 – – – –  10,767,532 

Cahyono Halim  6,657,532  4,110,000 – – – –  10,767,532 

Brad Wake  6,657,532  4,110,000 – – – –  10,767,532 

Anthony Nadalin  2,219,177 – – – –  (2,219,177) –

Renato Bobis 
(Resigned 31.08.11)  3,000,000 – – – –  (3,000,000) –

Total  42,945,191  23,290,000 – – –  (5,219,177)  61,016,014 

* Ceased to be kMP

2010

Directors 

John Carlile  9,986,298 – – – – –  9,986,298 

Bruce Watson  3,328,766 – – – – –  3,328,766 

Robert Willcocks  2,219,177 – – – – –  2,219,177 

George Tahija  2,219,177 – – – – –  2,219,177 

Executives – – – – –

Andrew Cooke  6,657,532 – – – – –  6,657,532 

Cahyono Halim  6,657,532 – – – – –  6,657,532 

Brad Wake  6,657,532 – – – – –  6,657,532 

Anthony Nadalin  2,219,177  2,219,177  (2,219,177) – – –  2,219,177 

Renato Bobis –  3,000,000 – – – –  3,000,000 

Total  39,945,191  5,219,177  (2,219,177) – – –  42,945,191
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2011	

A
Remuneration	

consisting of options
%

B
Granted 

during	year
$

C
Exercised 

during	year
$

D
Lapsed 

during	year	
$

Directors

John Carlile 22  114,975 – – 

Bruce Watson 39  38,326 – –

Robert Willcocks 41  25,551 – –

George Tahija 100  25,551 – –

Executives 

Andrew Cooke 26  76,652 – – 

Cahyono Halim 21  76,652 – –

Brad Wake 20  76,652 – –

Renato Bobis 18  – – – 

2010	

Directors 

John Carlile 20 – – – 

Bruce Watson 37 – – –

Robert Willcocks 38 – – –

George Tahija 100 – – – 

Executives 

Andrew Cooke 24 – – – 

Cahyono Halim 21 – – –

Brad Wake 21 – – –

Anthony Nadalin 34  22,906 –  3,573

Renato Bobis 23  30,308  – –

A =  The percentage of the value of remuneration consisting of options, based on fair value at grant date, allocated to 
remuneration over the vesting period.

B =  The value of options granted in the year is the fair value of the options calculated at grant date using the Black Scholes 
option-pricing model. The total value of the options granted is included in the table above. This amount is allocated to 
remuneration over the vesting period.

C =  The value of options exercised during the year is calculated as the market price of shares of the Company as at close 
of trading on the date the options were exercised after deducting the price paid to exercise the option.

D =  The value of the options that lapsed during the year represents the benefit forgone and is calculated at the date 
the option was granted using the Black Scholes option-pricing model assuming the performance criteria had been 
achieved.

c. Service Agreements – audited

The Group has service agreements with fixed remuneration rates based on both market rates and the Group’s ongoing 
financial capacity.

Remuneration

Director

John Carlile $23,000 per month

Executives

Cahyono Halim $18,500 per month 

Andrew Cooke $14,800 per month (based on a 4 day week) 

Brad Wake $18,500 per month 

Renato Bobis
(Resigned 31.08.11) $16,667 per month 
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environmental Performance
The Group’s activities during the year were primarily confined to Indonesia and accordingly the Group is not subject to 
environmental regulation under Australian law.

In Indonesia, the Group’s activities are carried out in accordance with environmental regulations as determined by the 
Ministry of Mines and Energy. All field operations in Indonesia are conducted on the premise of respect for the environment 
and a commitment to regeneration.

auditor’s Independence Declaration
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out 
on page 66 and forms part of this Directors’ Report.

non-audit services
During the year the Company did employ the Company’s auditor, kPMG, on assignments additional to their statutory 
audit duties.

The Board has considered the non-audit services provided during the year by the auditor and in accordance with written 
advice provided by resolution of the audit committee, is satisfied that the provision of those non-audit services during the 
year by the auditor is compatible with, and did not compromise, the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations 
Act 2001 for the following reasons:

 – all non-audit services were subject to the corporate governance procedures adopted by the Company and have been 
reviewed by the audit committee to ensure they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and

 – the non-audit services provided do not undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in 
APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, as they did not involve reviewing or auditing the auditors own 
work, acting in a management or decision making capacity for the Company, acting as an advocate for the Company 
or jointly sharing risks and rewards.

kPMG, received, or is due to receive the following amounts for the provision of non-audit services:

$

Tax compliance and consultancy services 30,300

Total non-audit services 30,300

Meetings of Directors
The following table sets out the number of meetings of the Company’s Directors (including meetings of Committees of 
Directors) held during the year ended 31 December, 2011 and the number of meetings attended by each Director:

Meetings	of	Directors	** Audit	Committee

Eligible to Attend Attended Eligible to Attend Attended

Bruce Watson 5 5 6 6 

George Tahija 5 4 * * 

John Carlile 5 5 * * 

Robert Willcocks 5 3 6 5 

* Not a member of the relevant committee
**Including meetings by circular resolution

This report is made on behalf of the Board of Directors pursuant to a resolution of Directors.

Dated this 23rd day of March 2012.

John C. Carlile
Managing director

Bruce J. Watson
non-executive Chairman
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Consolidated statement of Comprehensive Income
for year ended 31 December 2011

Notes
2011

$
2010	

$

Continuing	operations

Other income 6a (i) 67,679 10,870 

Employee expenses 6b  (1,415,385) (1,454,592)

Depreciation expenses (47,076) (63,323)

Management, administrative and occupancy expenses (775,048) (1,320,338)

Exploration expenses written-off (1,255,068) –

unrealised foreign exchange gain/(loss) (99,814) 305,825

Profit/(loss)	before	financing	costs (3,524,712) (2,521,558)

Interest income 6a (ii) 375,076 102,261

Finance expenses 6c (96,323) (266,883)

Profit/(loss)	before	income	tax (3,245,959) (2,686,180)

Income tax (expense)/benefit – –

Profit/(loss)	from	continuing	operations (3,245,959) (2,686,180)

Profit/(loss) from discontinued operations – –

Profit/(loss)	for	the	year (3,245,959) (2,686,180)

Other comprehensive income

Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations (33,668) 420,183 

Income tax on other comprehensive income 8a – –

Other comprehensive income for the period, net of tax (33,668) 420,183	

Total comprehensive income for the period (3,279,627) (2,265,997)

Profit/(loss)	attributable	to:

Equity holders of the Company (3,245,959) (2,686,180)

Non controlling interest – –

Profit/(loss) for the period (3,245,959) (2,686,180)

Total	comprehensive	income	attributable	to:

Equity holders of the Company (3,279,627) (2,265,997)

Non controlling interests – –

Profit/(loss)	for	the	period (3,279,627) (2,265,997)

Earnings per share

Basic earnings/(loss) per share (cents per share) (0.41) (0.67)

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (cents per share) (0.41) (0.67)

Continuing	operations

Basic earnings/(loss) per share (cents per share) (0.41) (0.67)

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (cents per share) (0.41) (0.67)

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated statement of Financial Position
as at 31 December 2011 

Notes
2011

$
2010	

$

Current	assets	

Cash and cash equivalents 9  5,851,354  4,037,462 

Receivables 10  38,078  33,906 

Other 12  148,024  131,553 

Total	current	assets	 	6,037,456	 	4,202,921	

NON-CURRENT	ASSETS	

Receivables 11  196,600  266,286 

Plant and equipment 13  62,916  47,550 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure 14  4,631,180  3,558,274 

TOTAL	NON-CURRENT	ASSETS	 	4,890,696	 	3,872,110	

TOTAL ASSETS 	10,928,152	 	8,075,031	

CURRENT	LIABILITIES	

Trade and other payables 15  179,705  238,814 

Interest bearing liabilities 18  1,274,668  1,498,576 

Other 17  34,887  34,887 

TOTAL	CURRENT	LIABILITIES	 	1,489,260	 	1,772,277	

NON-CURRENT	LIABILITIES	

Interest bearing liabilities 18  –  1,498,576 

Provisions 16  99,074  47,715 

TOTAL	NON-CURRENT	LIABILITIES	 	99,074	 	1,546,291	

TOTAL	LIABILITIES	 	1,588,334	 	3,318,568	

NET ASSETS 	9,339,818	 	4,756,463	

EqUITy 

Contributed equity 19  147,765,528  140,292,319 

Reserves  1,356,571  1,000,466 

Accumulated losses  (139,782,281)  (136,536,322)

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company  9,339,818  4,756,463 

TOTAL EqUITy 	9,339,818	 	4,756,463	

The consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated statement of Changes in equity
for year ended 31 December 2011

Share 
Capital

$

Translation 
Reserve

$

Share-
Based	

Payment 
Reserve

$

Accumulated	
Losses

$
Total

$ 

Non-
controlling 

interests
$

Total 
Equity

$

Balance	at	1	January	2011	 140,292,319	 	629,315	 	371,151	 	(136,536,322) 	4,756,463	  – 	4,756,463	

Total comprehensive income 
for period 

Profit/(loss)  – – –  (3,245,959)  (3,245,959) –  (3,245,959)

Other comprehensive income 

Foreign currency translation 
differences –  (33,668) – –  (33,668) –  (33,668)

Total other comprehensive income  –  (33,668) – –  (3,279,627) –  (3,279,627)

Total other comprehensive income 
for the year –  (33,668)  –  (3,245,959)  (3,279,627)  –  (3,279,627)

Transactions	with	equity	holders	
in	their	capacity	as	equity	holders	

Employee share options expense –  –  389,773  –  389,773  –  389,773 

Contribution of equity, 
net of transaction costs  7,473,209 – –  –  7,473,209 7,473,209

Total transactions with equity holders  7,473,209  –  389,773  –  7,862,982  –  7,862,982 

Total	equity	at	the	end	of	period	 147,765,528	 	595,647	 	760,924	 	(139,782,281) 	9,339,818	  – 	9,339,818	

 

Balance	at	1	January	2010	 135,313,344	 	209,132	 	4,735	 	(133,850,142) 	1,677,069	  – 	1,677,069	

Total comprehensive income 
for period 

Profit/(loss)  –  –  –  (2,686,180)  (2,686,180)  –  (2,686,180)

Other comprehensive income 

Foreign currency translation 
differences –  420,183  –  –  420,183  –  420,183 

Total other comprehensive income  –  420,183  –  –  (2,265,997)  –  (2,265,997)

Total other comprehensive income 
for the year  –  420,183  –  (2,686,180)  (2,265,997)  –  (2,265,997)

Transactions	with	equity	holders	
in	their	capacity	as	equity	holders	

Employee share options expense  –  –  366,416  –  366,416  –  366,416 

Contribution of equity, 
net of transaction costs  4,978,975  –  –  –  4,978,975  –  4,978,975 

Total transactions with equity holders  4,978,975  –  366,416  –  5,345,391  –  5,345,391 

Total	equity	at	the	end	of	period	 140,292,319	 	629,315	 	371,151	 	(136,536,322) 	4,756,463	  – 	4,756,463	

The consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.  
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Consolidated statement of Cash Flows
for year ended 31 December 2011

Notes
2011

$
2010	

$

Cash	flows	from	operating	activities

Consulting fees 67,679 –

Payments to suppliers and employees (1,820,066) (1,861,807)

Interest received 370,846 89,337 

Finance costs (90,412) (78,551)

Net	cash	used	in	operating	activities	 27b 	(1,471,953) (1,851,021)

Cash	flows	from	investing	activities

Payments for office furniture, equipment and vehicles (62,408) (27,095)

Proceeds on sale of plant and equipment 8,092 –

Exploration and evaluation expenditures (2,327,974) (2,146,927)

Loans to other entities – (166,506)

Net	cash	used	in	investing	activities (2,382,290) (2,340,528)

Cash	flows	from	financing	activities

Repayment of loan (635,894) –

Net proceeds from the issue of share capital 6,416,633 4,954,851 

Net cash from financing activities 5,780,739 4,954,851	

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,926,496 763,301 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period 4,037,462 3,283,922 

Effects of exchange rate changes on balances of cash held in foreign currencies (112,604) (9,761)

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	the	end	of	the	period 5,851,354 4,037,462	

The consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.  
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nOTeS TO THe COnSOlidATed finAnCiAl STATeMenTS
for year ended 31 December 2011

1. reporting entity
Arc Exploration Limited (“Arc” or the “Company”) is a publicly listed company that is incorporated and domiciled in Australia. 
The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 31 December 2011 comprise the 
Company and its controlled entities (together referred to as the “consolidated entity” or “Group”) and the Group’s interest 
in associates and jointly controlled entities.

The registered office and principal place of business of Arc Exploration Limited is located at:

Suite 1502, Level 15
keycorp Tower B
799 Pacific Highway
Chatswood  NSW  2067

During the year, the principal activities of Company and its controlled entities were:

 – the undertaking of gold exploration at Trenggalek (East Java) and Bima (East Sumbawa); and

 – providing support to Anglo American to undertake copper/gold exploration on the Strategic Alliance project area  
in West Papua. 

2. summary of significant accounting Policies

a. Basis of Preparation

Statement	of	Compliance

The consolidated financial report is a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards (AASBs) (including Australian Interpretations) adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board 
(AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001. The consolidated financial report complies with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRSs”) and interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board.

The financial report covers the economic entity of Arc Exploration Limited and its controlled entities.

Except where noted, all amounts are presented in Australian dollars.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 23 March 2012.

Going	Concern	Basis

The accounts are prepared on a going concern basis. Risks and uncertainties associated with the ability of the Group 
to continue as a going concern are detailed in Note 4.

Basis	of	Measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis.

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the application of accounting policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing 
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future 
periods affected.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation, uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting 
policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements are as follows:

 – Exploration and evaluation expenditure

 – Recognition of tax losses

Refer to Note 5 for further details.
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Notes to the coNsolidated fiNaNcial statemeNts
for year ended 31 December 2011

2. summary of significant accounting Policies (continued)

b. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated 
financial statements, and have been applied consistently by Group entities.

Basis	of	Consolidation

Controlled entities

A controlled entity is any entity controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power to govern the financial 
and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights 
that are currently exercisable are taken into account. The financial statements of controlled entities are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. The accounting 
policies of controlled entities have been changed when necessary to align them with the policies adopted by the Group.

All inter-company balances and transactions between entities, including any unrealised profits or losses, have been 
eliminated on consolidation.

Outside equity interests in the results and equity of controlled entities are shown separately in the consolidated financial report.

Foreign	Currencies

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The functional currency of Arc Exploration Limited 
is Australian Dollars and the functional currency of the Group’s main operating entities in Indonesia is united States dollars.

A reporting entity’s presentation currency is the currency in which the entity chooses to present its financial reports. 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars which is Arc Exploration Limited’s functional 
and presentation currency.

transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates 
of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the 
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised 
in the profit or loss.

Group entities

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that 
have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are converted into the presentation currency as follows:

 – assets and liabilities are translated at the closing exchange rate at the date of the statement of financial position;

 – income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rate for the period (unless this is not a reasonable 
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and 
expenses are translated at rates at the dates of the transaction); and

 – all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in foreign entity, including long 
term loans, are taken to shareholders’ equity.

Derivative	Financial	Instruments

The Group did not hold any derivative financial instruments during this or the previous year.
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Notes to the coNsolidated fiNaNcial statemeNts
for year ended 31 December 2011

Fair	Value	Estimation

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure 
purposes. The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the statement 
of financial position date. The quoted market price used for the financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price, 
the appropriate quoted market price for financial liabilities is the current ask price.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using recognised valuation 
techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at each 
balance date. Techniques, such as estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair value for financial instruments. 

The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their 
fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual 
cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the group for similar transactions.

Acquisition	of	Assets

All assets acquired, including property, plant, equipment and intangibles, other than goodwill, are initially recorded at cost, 
at the date of acquisition.

Plant	and	Equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or deemed cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the costs of materials, direct labour, any other costs directly 
attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use, and the initial estimate, where relevant, of 
the costs of dismantling and removing items, restoring the site and an appropriate proportion of production overheads. 
Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.

For the Indonesian entities, when assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, their carrying values and the related 
accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any resultant gain or loss is credited or charged to 
capitalised exploration expenditures or development expenditures. For non-exploration or asset items, gains and losses 
on disposal are determined by comparing proceeds with asset carrying amounts. These are included in the statement 
of comprehensive income.

Construction in progress is stated at cost and it is transferred to the respective property and equipment accounts when 
completed and ready for use.

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying value exceeds 
its recoverable amount.

Depreciation

Plant and equipment, motor vehicles, office equipment, and furniture are recorded at cost and are depreciated over their 
estimated useful economic lives to their estimated residual values using either straight line or diminishing value methods.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

Office equipment 4 to 10 years

Office furniture 5 to 10 years

Plant and equipment 4 to 7 years

Motor vehicles 4 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted if appropriate.

Exploration	and	Evaluation	Expenditure

Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources is the search for mineral resources after the entity has obtained legal 
rights to explore in a specific area, as well as the determination of the technical feasibility and commercial viability of 
extracting the mineral resource. Accordingly, exploration and evaluation expenditures are those expenditures incurred 
by the Company in connection with the exploration for and evaluation of minerals resources before the technical feasibility 
and commercial viability of extracting mineral resources are demonstrable.
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2. summary of significant accounting Policies (continued)

Accounting for exploration and evaluation expenditures is assessed separately for each ‘area of interest’. An ‘area of interest’ 
is an individual geological area which is considered to constitute a favourable environment for the presence of a mineral 
deposit or has been proved to contain such a deposit.

Expenditure incurred on activities that precede exploration and evaluation of mineral resources, including all expenditure 
incurred prior to securing legal rights to explore an area, is expensed as incurred. For each area of interest the expenditure 
is recognised as an exploration and evaluation asset where the following conditions are satisfied:

a. The rights to tenure of the area of interest are current; and

b. At least one of the following conditions is also met:

i. The expenditure is expected to be recouped through successful development and commercial exploitation of an area 
of interest, or alternatively by its sale; or

ii. Exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not, at reporting date, reached a stage which permits a 
reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of ‘economically recoverable reserves’ and active and significant 
operations in, or in relation to, the area of interest are continuing. Economically recoverable reserves are the estimated 
quantity of product in an area of interest that can be expected to be profitably extracted, processed and sold under 
current and foreseeable conditions.

Exploration and evaluation assets include:

 – Acquisition of rights to explore;

 – Topographical, geological, geochemical and geophysical studies;

 – Exploratory drilling, trenching, and sampling; and

 – Activities in relation to evaluating the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource.

General and administrative costs are allocated to, and included in, the cost of exploration and evaluation assets only to the 
extent that those costs can be related directly to the operational activities in the area of interest to which the exploration and 
evaluation assets relate. In all other instances, these costs are expensed as incurred.

When the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the extraction of a mineral resource has been demonstrated 
then any capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is reclassified as capitalised mining and project development 
expenditure. Prior to reclassification, capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is assessed for impairment.

In the event that an area of interest is abandoned or if the Directors consider the expenditure to be of no value, accumulated 
costs carried forward are written-off in the year in which that assessment is made. A regular review is undertaken of each 
area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to carry forward costs in relation to that area of interest.

Impairment testing of exploration and evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment if sufficient data exists to determine technical feasibility 
and commercial viability or facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.

Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for impairment when any of the following facts and circumstances exist:

 – The term of exploration license in the specific area of interest has expired during the reporting period or will expire 
in the near future, and is not expected to be renewed;

 – Substantive expenditure on further exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area are not 
budgeted nor planned;

 – Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area have not led to the discovery of commercially 
viable quantities of mineral resources and the decision was made to discontinue such activities in the specified area; or

 – Sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a development in the specific area is likely to proceed, the carrying amount 
of the exploration and evaluation asset is unlikely to be recovered in full from successful development or by sale.

Where a potential impairment is indicated, an assessment is performed for each cash-generating-unit which is no larger 
than the area of interest.
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for year ended 31 December 2011

Cash

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call 
with banks or financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value, and 
bank overdrafts.

Trade Receivables

Trade receivables, which generally have 30-60 day terms, are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost less provision for impairment.

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Individual debts that are known to be uncollectible 
are written off when identified. A provision for impairment is established when there is objective evidence that the Group 
will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. The amount of the provision 
is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted 
at the original effective interest rate. The amount of the provision is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Trade and Other Payables

Trade and other payable amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of 
the financial year which are unpaid. The amounts are non-interest bearing, unsecured and generally paid within 30 days 
of recognition.

Comparative	Information

Where necessary, comparative figures have been amended to accord with current year presentation and disclosure made 
of material changes to comparatives.

Impairment of Assets

The carrying values of all plant and equipment are reviewed at the each reporting date to determine whether there is an 
indication of impairment. Where an indicator of impairment exists, a formal estimate of the recoverable amount is made. 
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using pre-tax discount rates that reflect current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purposes of assessing impairment, 
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows which are largely independent 
of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill 
that suffered an impairment are tested for possible reversal of the impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate the impairment may have reversed.

Share-based Payment Transactions

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to Directors, employees and contractors. The Company issues 
options either pursuant to shareholder approval or in accordance with Employees and Contractors Option Plan (“ECOP”).

The fair value of equity options granted is recognised as an employee benefit or other expense with a corresponding 
increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and recognised over the period during which the holder became 
unconditionally entitled to the options.

The fair value at grant date was determined by using the Black Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the 
exercise price, the term of the option, the vesting and performance criteria, the non-tradable nature of the option, the share price 
at grant date and the expected price volatility of the underlying share, and the risk-free interest rate for the term of the option.

upon the exercise of the option, the balance of the options reserve relating to those options is transferred to contributed 
equity. Where unvested options lapse during the year the amounts in relation to these lapsed options, previously credited 
to the options reserve, are transferred to profit and loss. Where vested options lapse during the year the amounts in relation 
to these lapsed options, previously credited to the options reserve, are transferred to the accumulated losses account.
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2. summary of significant accounting Policies (continued)

Basic/Diluted	Earnings/(loss)	per	Share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings/loss per share data for its ordinary shares. Basic earnings/loss per share 
is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company excluding any costs of 
servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
period adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year. Diluted earnings/loss per share is determined 
by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise convertible notes, share options issued 
to shareholders, and share options granted to directors, employees and contractors.

Interest bearing liabilities

Interest bearing liabilities are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.

Interest bearing liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds 
(net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in profit and loss over the period of the borrowings 
using the effective interest method.

Interest bearing liabilities are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement 
of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance date.

Employee	Benefits

Wages, salaries, and annual leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries and annual leave expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are 
recognised in provisions in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date. The amount is measured at the amount 
expected to be paid, including expected on-costs, when liabilities are settled. Expenses for non-accumulating sick leave are 
recognised when the leave is taken and are measured at the rates paid or payable.

long Service leave

The liability for long service leave is recognised, and measured as the present value of expected future payments to be 
made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date, plus expected on-costs. Consideration is 
given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future 
payments are discounted using interest rates on national government guaranteed securities with terms to maturity that 
match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

post employment benefits

The Group provides post-employment benefits for its employees in Indonesia in accordance with Indonesian Labor Law 
NO 13/2003. This benefit program is deemed a defined benefit plan. A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit 
plan other than a defined contribution plan. The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated by 
estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods; 
that benefit is discounted to determine its present value. Any unrecognised past service costs and the fair value of any  plan 
assets are deducted.

The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on government bonds that have maturity dates approximating the terms 
of the Group’s obligations and that are denominated in the same currency in which the benefits are expected to be paid. 
The calculation is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method.

When the benefits of a plan are improved, the portion of the increased benefit relating to past service by employees is 
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits become vested. To the extent 
that the benefits vest immediately, the expense is recognised immediately in profit or loss. The Group recognises all actuarial 
gains and losses arising from defined benefit plans in other comprehensive income.

Provisions

Provisions for legal claims are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events; it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has 
been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. Where there are a number of similar 
obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations 
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as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same 
class of obligation may be small.

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

Contributed	Equity

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are 
shown in equity as a deduction from proceeds.

Restoration,	Rehabilitation	and	Environmental	Expenditure

Provisions are made for the estimated cost of rehabilitation, decommissioning and restoration relating to areas disturbed 
during a mine’s development/operations up to reporting date but not yet rehabilitated. Restoration costs that are expected 
to be incurred are provided for as part of the cost of the exploration, evaluation, development, construction or production 
phases that give rise to the need for restoration. If this occurs prior to commencement of production, the costs are included 
in capitalised tenement and infrastructure acquisition expenditure.

The provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the restoration obligation at the reporting date, 
based on current legal requirements and technology. Future costs are reviewed annually and any changes are reflected 
in the restoration provision at the end of the reporting period.

Other income

Interest income

Other income earned by the Group is predominantly interest income. This income is recognised as the interest accrues 
(using the effective interest method where applicable) to the net carrying amount of the related financial asset.

Sundry income

Sundry income predominantly relates to consulting income earned by providing consulting services for other exploration 
entities in Indonesia.

Leases

Leases in which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. 
The Group has not entered into any finance leases.

Other leases are operating leases and the leased assets are not recognised on the Group’s statement of financial position. 
Rental payments are charged against profits in equal instalments over the term of the lease.

Finance	Costs

Finance costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that, 
where necessary, take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those 
assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the 
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing 
costs eligible for capitalisation. 

The finance expense included in the profit and loss are in relation to unsecured loans (refer Note 18 ).

Goods	and	Services	Tax	(GST)	and	Value	Added	Tax	(VAT)

Goods and services taxes

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is 
not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount 
of GST receivable and recoverable. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office 
is included with other receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows.
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2. summary of significant accounting Policies (continued)

Value added taxes

VAT applies to goods and services in Indonesia. In 2004, upon request by the Group, the Directorate General of Taxation 
issued a confirmation letter stating that gold mining companies will not have their revenues subject to VAT.

Income Tax

Income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income or loss based on 
the national income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to 
temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. 
Current and deferred tax expense attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity is also recognised directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to apply when the 
assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates which are enacted or substantively enacted for each 
jurisdiction. The relevant tax rates are applied to the cumulative amounts of deductible and taxable temporary differences 
to measure the deferred tax asset or liability. An exception is made for certain temporary differences arising from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability. No deferred tax asset or liability is recognised in relation to these temporary differences 
if they arose in a transaction, other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction did not affect either 
accounting or taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that 
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities 
and when deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset when the 
entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously.

Segment Reporting

The Group has applied AASB 8 Operating Segments and its associated amending standards from 1 January 2009. 
As of 1 January 2009 the Group determines and presents operating segments based on the information that is internally 
provided to the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), who is the Group’s chief operating decision maker.

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities whose operating results are 
reviewed regularly by the Group’s CEO and for which discrete financial information is available.

The Group is involved solely in exploration activities in Indonesia and has a single operating segment, exploration activities, that  
its CEO reviews regularly to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its performance.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire property, plant and equipment, and 
intangible assets other than goodwill.

New	standards	and	interpretations	not	yet	adopted

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after 
1 July 2011, and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements. None of these is expected to 
have a significant effect on the consolidated financial Group.

3. Financial risk Management

Overview

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

 – credit risk

 – liquidity risk

 – market risk

The Group’s principal financial instruments during the financial year comprised receivables, payables, unsecured loans, 
cash and short-term deposits.
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This Note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, their objectives, policies and 
processes for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are 
included throughout this financial report.

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework. Risk management 
policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and 
to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed periodically where there are 
changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the 
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the future cash flows for the Group.

Credit	risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer, borrower or counterparty to a financial instrument fails 
to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s investment of its cash balances.

Counterparty credit risk will be managed by dealing with an agreed range of suitable financial institutions based on their 
credit rating of A or better.

Other receivables

The credit risk exposures on Group receivables are not considered significant.

Guarantees

As at 31 December 2011 the Group has not provided financial guarantees to any third party.

Liquidity	risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The ability of 
the Group to continue to meet the financial obligations they are incurring will depend on the ability of the Company to 
successfully complete capital raisings as required. Given the Group’s financial position during 2010 and 2011, the Group’s 
approach to managing liquidity was to ensure that liabilities were only incurred where there were sufficient available funds 
to meet those liabilities within normal trading terms or alternatively where there were reasonable grounds to believe that 
additional funding would be raised within the required timeframe required to settle such liabilities when they fell due.

Market	risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as commodity prices, foreign exchange rates, interest rates and 
equity prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk 
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return. 

i. Foreign exchange risk

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk will be related to its equity raisings and Indonesian expenditures. 
The Company will raise funds through equity placements to fund predominantly Indonesian exploration expenditure as 
well as to fund its Australian corporate activities. The equity that is raised is denominated in Australian dollars. Indonesian 
exploration expenditure cash outflows are in united States Dollars (“uSD”), Indonesian Rupiah (“IDR”) and Australian 
dollars. As such the Group has a currency risk in relation to unfavourable movements in these IDR and uSD exchange rates. 

The Group also has foreign exchange risk exposure on the unsecured loans which are denominated in uSD. These loans 
were not hedged as initially they were to be for a relatively short-period. The remainder of the loan is repayable in March 2012.

ii. Cash	flow	and	fair	value	interest	rate	risk

Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the 
Group to fair value interest rate risk. At 31 December 2011 the only interest bearing loans are the fixed rate unsecured Loans .

The Groups policy on interest rate risk on borrowings is firstly to fund its exploration activities with equity funds wherever 
possible and to minimise borrowings as the Group does not generate revenue to service borrowings. Where the Group has 
existing borrowings or borrowings become necessary the Group will seek to minimise or fix interest rates wherever possible. 
The Group does not seek to hedge its interest rate risks due to the small scale of its operations and lack of treasury function 
within the Group. 

iii. Other market price risk

The Group did not hold any investments during the 2011 financial year.
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3. Financial risk Management (continued)

Capital	Management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern. The Group’s 
capital consists of share capital, options reserve and retained losses.

As an exploration entity, the Group monitors capital and financing facilities on a liquidity basis. The Group’s liquidity position 
is calculated as current assets less current liabilities ($4,548,196) and also considers future exploration commitments.

4. going Concern
The financial report is prepared on a going concern basis which reflects the Directors’ expectation that the Group will be able 
to realise its assets and settle its obligations in the normal course of business.

5. Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, 
seldom equal the actual related results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are as follows:

i. Exploration	and	evaluation	expenditure

Determining the recoverability of exploration and evaluation expenditure capitalised in accordance with the group’s 
accounting policy (refer Note 2), requires estimates and assumptions as to future events and circumstances, in particular, 
whether successful development and commercial exploitation, or alternatively sale, of the respective areas of interest will be 
achieved. Critical to this assessment is estimates and assumptions as to the existence of reserves, the timing of expected 
cash flows, exchange rates, commodity prices and future capital requirements. Changes in these estimates and assumptions 
as new information about the presence or recoverability of an ore reserve becomes available, may impact the assessment 
of the recoverable amount of exploration and evaluation assets. If, after having capitalised the expenditure under accounting 
policy described in Note 2(b), a judgment is made that recovery of the expenditure is unlikely, an impairment loss is recorded 
in the income statement. The carrying amounts of exploration and evaluation assets are set out in Note 14.

ii. Deferred tax

In accordance with the Group’s accounting policies for deferred taxes, a deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax 
losses only if it is probable that future taxable profits will be available to utilise those losses. Determination of future taxable 
profits requires estimates and assumptions as to future events and circumstances, in particular, whether successful 
development and commercial exploitation, or alternatively sale, of the respective areas of interest will be achieved. 
This includes estimates and judgements about commodity prices, ore reserves, exchange rates, future capital requirements, 
future operational performance and the timing of estimated cash flows. Changes in these estimates and assumptions could 
impact on the amount and probability of estimated taxable profits and accordingly the recoverability of deferred tax assets.

The Group has not recognised a net deferred tax asset for temporary differences and tax losses as at 31 December 2011 
on the basis that the ability to utilise these temporary differences and tax losses can not yet be regarded as probable.

44 Arc explorAtion



Notes to the coNsolidated fiNaNcial statemeNts
for year ended 31 December 2011

6. revenue and expenses
2011

$
2010

$

a. i. Other income
 Sundry income 67,679 10,870

67,679 10,870

ii. Finance income
 Interest income 375,076 102,261 

b. Employee expenses

Wages and salaries  971,472  1,037,641 

Superannuation & post employment benefits  54,140  50,535 

Share based payments expense  389,773  366,416 

1,415,385 1,415,592

c. Finance expenses

Interest paid or payable:

– Related party  96,146  266,578

– Other persons  177  305

96,323 266,883

7. earnings / (loss) per share
2011

$
2010

$

Profit/(loss) from continuing operations used in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share (3,245,959)  (2,686,180)

Profit/(loss) from discontinued operations – –

Net profit/(loss) used in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share  (3,245,959)  (2,686,180)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year used  
in calculating basic earnings per share dilutive earnings/(loss) per share 796,488,182  403,299,888 

Weighted	average	number	of	ordinary	shares

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January  595,754,788  344,451,974 

Effect of share option exercised  172,749,463  172,200 

Shares issued to repay loan  27,983,931 – 

Shares issued for services rendered –  20,971,163 

Shares issued for services rendered at rights issue –  1,720,700 

Shares issued as placement –  14,896,575 

Shares issued under share placement plan –  21,087,275 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during  
the year used in the calculation of dilutive earnings/(loss) per share  796,488,182  403,299,888 

Basic earnings/(loss) per share (cents per share)  (0.41)  (0.67)

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (cents per share)  (0.41)  (0.67)

Continuing operations

Basic earnings/(loss) per share (cents per share)  (0.41)  (0.67)

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (cents per share)  (0.41)  (0.67)
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7. earnings / (loss) per share (continued)

Information Concerning the Classification of Securities

Employee and Director Options

The options granted to directors, employees and contractors are not included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share 
because the exercise price exceeded the average market price and are therefore considered as antidilutive for the years 
ended 31 December 2011 and 2010. 

Listed and Unlisted Options

Listed and unlisted options are not included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share because the exercise price 
exceeded the average market price and are therefore considered as antidilutive for the years ended 31 December 2011 
and 2010. These options could potentially dilute earnings per share in the future.

8. Income Tax
2011

$
2010

$

a. Income tax expense

Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable:

Profit/(loss)	before	income	tax	benefit 	(3,245,959) (2,686,180)

Income tax expense/(benefit) at the statutory rate of 30% (2010:30%)  (973,788) (805,854)

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating taxable income: 

Non-deductible / assessable foreign translation (gain)/loss (10,100) 126,055

Share issue costs (133,751) (87,748)

Non deductible share based payments expense 116,932 109,925 

(1,000,707) (657,622)

Prior year losses utilised – –

Less tax losses not recognised and carried forward 1,000,707  657,622 

Income	tax	expense/(benefit) – –

b. Recognised tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

Exploration and evaluation expenditure 1,389,354 1,067,482 

Tax losses recognised (1,389,354) (1,067,482)

Net deferred tax liability/(asset) – –

c. Unrecognised deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

Provisions 24,769 11,929

Tax losses PT Indonusa Mining Services (IMS) 900,295 778,126

Tax losses Arc Exploration Limited (Arc) 6,700,222 7,166,111

Capital tax losses Arc 15,046,770 15,046,770

Total 22,672,056 23,002,936

The deductible temporary differences and tax losses relating to Arc do not expire under current tax legislation. The tax losses 
relating to IMS can be carried forward for a maximum of 5 years. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect 
of these items because it is not probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the Group can utilise the 
benefits therefrom.
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9. Cash and Cash equivalents

2011
$

2010
$

Cash at bank and on hand 851,354 335,157

Short term deposits 5,000,000 3,702,305

5,851,354 4,037,462 

10. Current receivables

Other debtors  3,206 –

Goods and services tax (GST) and other consumption taxes recoverable 10,024  13,289 

Interest receivable  24,848  20,617 

 38,078  33,906 

11. non-Current receivables

Other debtors 196,600 266,286

 196,600 266,286

12. other Current assets

Prepayments 93,138 73,435

Security deposits  20,000  23,231 

Monies held in trust  34,886  34,887 

 148,024  131,553 
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13. Plant and equipment
2011

$
2010

$

a.	 Office	furniture	and	equipment

Gross	carrying	amount

Opening balance 311,494 351,942

Additions 20,332 24,526

Disposals and transfers – (26,769)

Net foreign exchange differences 213 (38,205)

Closing balance 332,039 311,494

Accumulated	depreciation

Opening balance (264,300) (276,394)

Depreciation expense (28,185) (42,631)

Depreciation reversed on disposals – 24,905

Net foreign exchange differences (182) 29,820

Closing balance (292,667) (264,300)

Net office furniture and equipment 39,372 47,194

b.	 Motor	vehicles

Gross	carrying	amount

Opening balance  73,240  82,989 

Additions  42,078  –

Disposals and transfers  (10,594)  –

Net foreign exchange differences  51  (9,749)

Closing balance  104,775  73,240 

Accumulated	depreciation

Opening balance (72,884)  (65,692)

Depreciation expense  (18,891)  (14,909)

Disposals and transfers  10,594  –

Net foreign exchange differences  (50)  7,717 

Closing balance  (81,231)  (72,884)

Net motor vehicles  23,544  356 

Carrying	amounts

Total plant and equipment – at 1 January  47,550  92,845 

Total plant and equipment – at 31 December  62,916  47,550 
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14. exploration and evaluation expenditure
2011

$
2010

$

Opening balance 3,558,274 1,411,347

Additions 2,327,974 2,146,927

Exploration costs written-off(a) (1,255,068) –

4,631,180 3,558,274

The Group’s exploration activities are conducted via contractual arrangements with certain Indonesian companies and 
individuals under which each party contributes assets and/or expertise. These agreements create relationships similar in 
nature to a joint venture operation or joint venture asset as defined in AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures, however do not 
give the parties joint control over the contributed assets or operations. Subject to the agreements, the parties have rights 
and obligations in proportion to agreed “ownership” levels and, as at 31 December 2011, the Group’s ownership level was 
95% (2010: 95%). The Group has capitalised its share of the exploration expenditure in accordance with the accounting 
policy set out in Note 2, and its share of any capital commitments and contingent liabilities are included in the amounts 
disclosed in Notes 29 and 32.

a. The Regent of Bima suspended the Bima Exploration Licence (IuP) in December 2011 following an anti-mining 
demonstration. On 28 January 2012 the Group’s Indonesian partner PT Sumber Mineral Nusantara (PT SMN) received 
formal advice from the Regent of Bima stating that PT SMN’s Bima IuP was suspended and subsequently revoked, 
citing civil disturbances and security issues in the Bima area. The Group remained in full compliance with all legal and 
regulatory licence requirements at the times the IuP was suspended and subsequently revoked.

The Group is assessing the situation and reviewing alternatives open to it. As the situation stands with the licence being 
revoked the Board feels it has no alternative but to fully impair the carrying value of the Bima project as at 31 December 2011.

15. Trade and other Payables 

Trade payables and accrued expenses 142,408 204,569

Other consumption taxes payable 37,297 34,245

179,705 238,814

16. Provisions

Current	liabilities

Employee leave entitlements – –

– –

Non-current	liabilities

Post employment benefits 99,074 47,715

99,074 47,715

Current and non-current provisions 99,074 47,715

17. other Current liabilities

Amounts payable to other persons 34,887 34,887

34,887 34,887
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18. Interest Bearing liabilities

2011
$

2010
$

Current	liabilities

unsecured loans – related parties  149,961  149,857 

unsecured loans  1,124,707  1,348,719 

 1,274,668  1,498,576 

Non-current	liabilities

unsecured loans – related parties –  149,857 

unsecured loans –  1,348,719 

 –  1,498,576 

Current	and	non-current	interest	bearing	liabilities 	1,274,668	 	2,997,152	

Terms	and	debt	repayment	schedule

Terms and conditions of outstanding loans as at the end of 2011 financial years are as follows:

31	December	2011 31	December	2010

Currency
Nominal 

interest rate
year of 

maturity Face	value
Carrying	
amount Face	value

Carrying	
amount

unsecured loans uSD 5% 2012 1,247,588 1,274,668 2,816,39 2,997,152

As at 31 December 2011, the outstanding unsecured loans balance is uS$1.3 million. until 1 July 2010 the loan interest rate 
was 10% per annum with the interest being capitalised quarterly in arrears. From 1 July 2010 the loan interest rate is 5% per 
annum with the interest being paid in cash quarterly in arrears. 50% of the principal and capitalised interest will be repayable in 
March 2011 and the remaining 50% will be repayable in March 2012. The remaining balance will be repayable in March 2012.

19. Contributed equity
31/12/11
Number

31/12/10
Number

31/12/11
$

31/12/10
$

At 31 December  825,024,776  595,754,788  147,765,528  140,292,319 

Fully	paid	ordinary	shares	

At the beginning of the year  595,754,788  344,451,964  140,292,319  135,313,344 

Exercise of shareholder options @ 3.6 cents –  346,696 –  12,481 

Exercise of shareholder options @ 75 cents –  1 –  1 

Shares issued for services rendered at right issue @ 3.6 cents –  1,944,444 –  70,000 

Shares issued in consideration for drilling service@ 1.8 cents –  51,817,835 –  932,721 

Shares issued as placement @ 2.0 cents –  59,750,000 –  1,195,000 

Shares issued under share placement plan @ 2.2 cents –  137,443,848 –  3,023,765 

Exercise of ARXOA Options 190,632,875 @ 3.6 cents per share  190,632,875 –  6,862,782 –

Issue of 38,637,113 shares @ 2.75 cents per share to repay loan  38,637,113 –  1,056,264 –

Listed options issued – – –  37,500 

Transaction costs relating to share issues  (445,837)  (292,493)

  825,024,776  595,754,788  147,765,528  140,292,319 
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a. Share-based payment options

The Company issues options either pursuant to shareholder approval or in accordance with Employees and Contractors 
Option Plan (“ECOP”).Movements in options to take up ordinary shares in the capital of the Company during the year are 
as follows:

Option Series
Opening balance

1	January Issued
No. of options 
Relinquished Lapsed

No. of options 
outstanding

31	December	2011	

2011

Options issued to Directors 
and Employees exercisable 
at $0.042 

42,945,191

 

 23,290,000

– –  66,235,191

42,945,191  23,290,000 – –  66,235,191 

2010

Options issued to Directors 
and Employees exercisable 
at $0.036 39,945,191  5,219,177 –  (2,219,177)  42,945,191 

39,945,191  5,219,177 –  (2,219,177) 42,945,191 

Each option entitles the option holder to one ordinary share in the Company at the stated exercise price per share, 
exercisable at any time from the date of vesting where applicable. None of the above mentioned options were exercised 
during the financial year. 

The following options were granted to employees during the year:

Following shareholder approval at the Annual General Meeting held 27 May 2011 the Company issued 23,290,000 options at 
an exercise price of 4.2 cents per share with an expiry date of 27 May 2016. 50% of the options vest on 31 December 2011 
with the remaining 50% to vest on 31 December 2012 subject to the option holder still being a Company director or Group 
employee at the relevant vesting date. The options shall not expire by reason of the option holder subsequently resigning 
or ceasing to be a director or employee. The options shall also vest if a person becomes entitled to in excess of 30% of the 
shares in the company. The options shall immediately vest in the event of death for the benefit of the option holder’s estate. 

The value of the options was measured based on the Black-Scholes formula. Expected volatility is estimated by considering 
historic average share price volatility.

The inputs used in the measurement of the fair values at grant date of the equity-settles share-based payment options can 
be summarised as follows:

2011 2010

Tranche	1 Tranche	2 Nadalin Bobis

Grant date 27 May 2011 27 May 2011 19 May 2010 11 May 2010

Fair value at grant date 1.8 cents 1.93 cents 1.03 cents 1.84 cents

Share price at grant date 2.8 cents 2.8 cents 1.9 cents 3.8 cents

Exercise price 4.2 cents 4.2 cents 3.6 cents 4.6 cents

Expected volatility 120% 120% 80% 80%

Expiry date 27 May 2016 27 May 2016 11 December 2014 31 March 2013

Expected dividends nil nil nil nil

Risk-free interest rate 5.05% 5.05% 4.22% 4.41%

The total cost of options issued by directors to key management personnel charged to profit and loss for 2011 was $389,773.
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19. Contributed equity (continued)

Employees	and	Contractors	Option	Plan	(“ECOP”)

The eligible participants in the Company’s Employee and Contractors Option Plan are:

i. A person who is a Director, alternate Director or Company Secretary of the Company or any entity in the Group;

ii. A permanent or part-time employee of the Company or Group;

iii. A person who is in an independent contractor relationship with the Company or Group and provides goods or services to 
the Company or Group;

iv. A full time or permanent part-time, employee of a person under (iii); and

v. A trust or entity either controlled by or associated with the persons referred to in (i) and (ii) above.

b. listed Options

The number of listed options over unissued ordinary shares as at 31 December 2011 is 7,940,728 (2010: 206,820,410). 
The terms of these options are as follows:

Listed Options Number
Exercise 

Price Expiry Date

Listed options ARXO 7,940,728 $0.750 30/06/2012

7,940,728

Movements in listed options to take up ordinary shares in the capital of the Company during the year are as follows:

 2011 2010

Number	of	listed	options	ARXO	

Balance as at 1 January  7,940,728  7,940,729 

Options converted to shares –  (1)

Balance	as	at	31	December	 	7,940,728	 	7,940,728	

 

Number	of	listed	options	ARXOA	

Balance as at 1 January  198,879,682  153,595,239 

Options attached to employee options issued –  18,750,000 

Options attached with shares issued for services rendered –  26,881,139 

Options converted to shares –  (346,696)

Exercise of options  (190,632,875) –

Options expired  (8,246,807) –

Balance	as	at	31	December	 – 	198,879,682	

c. unlisted Options

The number of unlisted options over unissued ordinary shares as at 31 December 2011 is 19,275,000 (2010:17,775,000.) 

During the year 1,500,000 unlisted options were issued to RBS Morgans Corporation Limited for consideration for services 
provided. The options have an exercise price of 7.5 cents and an expiry date of 23 September 2012. 

No unlisted options have been exercised during the year. 
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20. reserves
 
 

2011
$

2010
$

Foreign	currency	translation	reserve	

Balance at the beginning of financial year 629,315 209,132

Translation of foreign operations during the year (33,668) 420,183

Balance at end of the financial year 595,647 629,315

Share-based payments reserve 

Balance at the beginning of financial year 371,151 4,735

Options expense 389,773 366,416

Options relinquished- unvested – –

Options relinquished- vested – –

Balance at end of the financial year 760,924 371,151

Total Reserves 1,356,571 1,000,466

Foreign	currency	translation	reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial 
statements of foreign operations where their functional currency is different to the presentation currency of the reporting entity.

Share-based payments reserve

The share-based payments reserve relates to the cumulative expense for share options granted to directors, employees 
and contractors. upon the exercise of the options, the balance of the options reserve relating to those options is transferred 
to contributed equity. Where unvested options lapse or are relinquished during the year the amounts in relation to these 
options, previously credited to the options reserve, are transferred to profit and loss. Where vested options lapse or are 
relinquished during the year the amounts in relation to these options, previously credited to the options reserve, are 
transferred to the accumulated loss account.

21. accumulated losses

Balance at the beginning of the financial year (136,536,322) (133,850,142)

Transfer of options reserve amount for relinquished vested options – –

Net profit/(loss) attributable to Arc Exploration Limited (3,245,959) (2,686,180)

Balance at the end of the financial year (139,782,281) (136,536,322)
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22. key Management Personnel Disclosures
key Management Personnel of the entity are those persons with the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the Group during the financial year.

a. details of key management personnel

The following persons were identified as key management personnel of the Group and the Company during the current 
and previous reporting period and unless otherwise indicated were key management personnel for the entire period:

Name Position

Executive	Director

John Carlile Managing Director 

Non-Executive	Directors

Bruce Watson Chairman

George Tahija Director

Robert Willcocks Director

Other	Key	Management	Personnel

Cahyono Halim Chief Financial Officer

Andrew Cooke Company Secretary

Brad Wake Exploration Manager

There are no loans to key management personnel. For information on other transactions between key management 
personnel and entities in the Group, refer to Note 25.

b. remuneration

The aggregate of compensation of the key management personnel of the Group is set out below:

2011
$

2010
$

Short term employee benefits 1,053,058 1,143,787

Post employment benefits 22,248 34,405

Termination benefits – –

Share-based payments  357,418  343,685 

 1,432,724  1,521,877 

Number of options held by Directors and other key management personnel either directly or beneficially:

2011
Balance	at	
1	January

Granted as 
remuneration	

Options 
lapsed

Total at 
31	December

Vested 
during	the	

year

Vested and 
exercisable at 
31	December

Directors

J Carlile  9,986,298 6,165,000 – 16,151,298 8,075,649 13,068,798

B Watson  3,328,766  2,055,000 – 5,383,766 2,691,883 4,356,266

R Willcocks  2,219,177  1,370,000 – 3,589,177 1,794,589 2,904,177

G Tahija  2,219,177  1,370,000 – 3,589,177 1,794,589 2,904,177

Other	Key	Management	Personnel

A Cooke  6,657,532  4,110,000 – 10,767,532 5,383,766 8,712,532

C Halim  6,657,532  4,110,000 – 10,767,532 5,383,766 8,712,532

B Wake  6,657,532  4,110,000 – 10,767,532 5,383,766 8,712,532
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2010
Balance	at	
1	January

Granted as 
remuneration	

Options 
lapsed

Total at 
31	December

Vested 
during	the	

year

Vested and 
exercisable at 
31	December

Directors

J Carlile 9,986,298 – – 9,986,298  4,993,149 4,993,149

B Watson 3,328,766 – – 3,328,766  1,664,383 1,664,383

R Willcocks 2,219,177 – – 2,219,177 1,109,589 1,109,589

G Tahija 2,219,177 – – 2,219,177 1,109,589 1,109,589

Other	Key	Management	Personnel

A Cooke 6,657,532 – – 6,657,532  3,328,766 3,328,766

C Halim 6,657,532 – – 6,657,532 3,328,766 3,328,766

B Wake 6,657,532 – – 6,657,532 3,328,766 3,328,766

A Nadalin1 2,219,177 2,219,177 (2,219,177) 2,219,177 2,219,177 2,219,177

1. Mr A Nadalin passed away on 7 July 2010.

No options held by key management personnel are vested but not excercisable as at 31 December 2011 or 2010.

c. listed Options in the Company

The movement during the reporting period in the number of listed options to acquire ordinary shares in the Company held, 
directly, or beneficially, by the Directors and other key management personnel, including their related parties, is as follows:

i. Listed options ARXO

2011
Balance	as	at	

1	January
Other 

changes
Balance	as	at	
31	December

Directors

B Watson  18,000 –  18,000 

G Tahija  324,675 –  324,675 

J Carlile  73,511 –  73,511 

Other	Key	Management	Personnel

A Cooke  3,200 –  3,200 

2010

Directors

B Watson 18,000 – 18,000 

G Tahija 324,675 –  324,675 

J Carlile 73,511 – 73,511

Other	Key	Management	Personnel

A Cooke 3,200  – 3,200 
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22. key Management Personnel Disclosures (continued)

ii. Listed options ARXOA

2011	
Balance	as	at	

1	January Purchases Sales Lapsed
Balance	as	at	
31	December	

Directors

B Watson 4,095,278 – (4,095,278) – –

G Tahija – – – – –

J Carlile 5,477,850 – (4,231,445) (1,246,405) –

R Willcocks 1,375,000 – (1,375,000) – –

Other	Key	Management	Personnel	

A Cooke 256,605 – (100,000) (156,605) –

2010

Directors

B Watson 4,095,278  –  – – 4,095,278

G Tahija – – – – –

J Carlile 5,477,850 – – – 5,477,850

R Willcocks 1,375,000 – – – 1,375,000

Other	Key	Management	Personnel

A Cooke 256,605 – – – 256,605

d. Shares

The movement during the reporting period in the number of ordinary shares in the Company held, directly, or beneficially, 
by each by the Directors and other key management personnel, including their related parties, is as follows: 

2011
Balance	as	

at	1	January Purchases Sales

Subscription	
to capital 

raisings, rights 
issue	or	rights	
issue	shortfall

Other 
changes

Balance	as	at	
31	December

Directors 

B Watson  9,254,629  4,155,278  (60,000) – –  13,349,907 

G Tahija  10,597,474 – – – –  10,597,474 

J Carlile  12,768,555  6,911,038 – – –  19,679,593 

R Willcocks  2,750,000  1,375,000 – – –  4,125,000 

Other	Key	Management	Personnel	

A Cooke  1,063,584  100,000 – – –  1,163,584 

2010

Directors

B Watson  8,680,556  574,073 – – –  9,254,629 

G Tahija  10,597,474 – – – –  10,597,474 

J Carlile  12,194,482  574,073 – – –  12,768,555 

R Willcocks  2,750,000 – – – –  2,750,000 

Other	Key	Management	Personnel

A Cooke  613,209  450,375 – – –  1,063,584 

e. remuneration Practices 

Information regarding the principles and polices for the remuneration of key management is set out in the Remuneration 
Report in the Directors’ report.
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23. operating segments
The results and financial position of the Company’s single operating segment, exploration activities in Indonesia, are 
prepared for the CEO on a basis consistent with Australian Accounting Standards, and thus no additional disclosures 
in relation to the revenues, profit or loss, assets and liabilities and other material items have been made. Entity-wide 
disclosures in relation to Group’s services, geographical areas, and major customers are detailed below.

Services

The Group currently provides consulting services for other exploration entities in Indonesia. The total revenue recognised 
for the year ended 31 December 2011 was $67,679 (31 December 2010: $10,870).

Geographical areas

The Company’s revenue generating activities are located solely in Indonesia.

Major	customers

Revenues from one customer of the Group’ represents approximately $47,500 (2010: $nil) of the Group’s total revenues for 
the year ended 31 December 2011.

24. Investments in Controlled entities
Equity	Holdings

Name of controlled entity
Country	of	

Incorporation
Class	of	
Shares

2011
%

2010
%

PT Indonusa Mining Services Indonesia Ord 100 100

25. related Party Transactions
Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than those 
available to other parties, unless otherwise stated.

a. directors during the year

The Directors of Arc Exploration Limited during part or the whole of the year were:

John Carlile Managing Director
Bruce Watson Non-Executive Chairman
George Tahija Non-Executive Director
Robert Willcocks Non-Executive Director

b. Transactions with directors and director related entities:

2011
$

2010
$

Mr. Carlile received interest payments or had interest payments capitalised 
on a loan provided to the Company. 10,413 26,083

Loan of uS$152,300 (2010: uS$304,600) owed by the Company to Mr. Carlile. 
up until 30 June 2010 all interest at 10% was capitalised, from 1 July 2010 interest 
at 5% was paid in cash. 149,961 299,714

26. Financial Instruments
a. Credit risk

2011
$

2010
$

Cash and cash equivalents 5,851,354 4,037,462

Group credit risk is considered negligible on the cash and cash equivalent amounts as 
these are primarily deposited with the ANZ and ANZ Panin (formerly known as ABN Amro).

Trade and other receivables 234,678 300,192
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Notes to the coNsolidated fiNaNcial statemeNts
for year ended 31 December 2011

26. Financial Instruments (continued)

b. liquidity risk

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities and interest payments.

2011

Carrying	
amount

$

Contractual	
cash	flows

$

Within	6	
months

$

Within	6-12	
months

$
1	to	2	years

$
2	to	5	years

$

unsecured loans  1,274,668  1,292,275  1,292,275 – – –

Trade and other payables  179,705  179,705  179,705 – – –

Other current liabilities  34,887  34,887  34,887 – – –

 1,489,260  1,506,867  1,506,867 – – –

2010

unsecured loans  3,119,767  3,119,767  1,559,462  41,340  1,518,965 –

Trade and other payables  238,814  238,814  238,814 – – –

Other current liabilities  34,887  34,887  34,887 – – –

 3,393,468  3,393,468  1,833,163  41,340  1,518,965 –

c. Currency risk

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk relates to balances that are denominated in currencies other than an entity’s 
functional currency. At balance date the notional amount (AuD equivalent) of the non-functional currency balances were 
as follows:

2011 AUD $ IDR $ USD $ Total $

Cash and cash equivalents  49,611  17,318 –  66,929 

Receivables   196,600   196,600

Trade and other payables –  (81,415) –  (81,415)

unsecured loans – –  (1,274,668)  (1,274,668)

 49,611  132,503  (1,274,668)  (1,092,554)

2010

Cash and cash equivalents  179,052  9,344 –  188,396 

Receivables  266,286  266,286 

Trade and other payables –  (90,812) –  (90,812)

unsecured loans – –  (2,997,152)  (2,997,152)

 179,052  184,818  (2,997,152)  (2,633,282)

The following significant exchange rates applied during the year:

Average rate Reporting date spot rate

AUD 2011 2010 2011 2010

uSD 1.0407 0.9199 1.0156 1.0163 

IDR 8,348 8,348 9,142 9,142

Sensitivity analysis

From the Group perspective fluctuations in exchange rates for non-functional currency balances in AuD and IDR would have 
no material impact on earnings or equity as these balances relate to the Indonesian subsidiaries. For PT Indonusa Mining 
Services the impact of exchange rate fluctuations are not considered to be material. 

On the uSD amounts which relate to the Group balances denominated in uSD, a 5% decrease in AuD/uSD exchange rate 
from the 2011 year-end spot rate would have decreased the unrealised foreign exchange gain for the Group by $67,087 
(2010: $157,745).
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Notes to the coNsolidated fiNaNcial statemeNts
for year ended 31 December 2011

d. interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk, which is the risk that a financial instrument’s value will fluctuate as a result of 
changes in market interest rates and the effective weighted average rates on classes of financial assets and financial 
liabilities, is as follows, by interest rate re-set period.

2011

Effective 
average 

interest rate
Fixed or 

Floating rate

Within
 6 months

$

Within
	6-12	months

$

1	to	2
years

$

2	to	5
years

$
Total

$

Financial assets

Cash at bank 2.5% Floating  851,354 – – –  851,354 

Cash at bank 5.3% Fixed  5,000,000 – – –  5,000,000 

Security deposits 5.0% Fixed  20,000 – – –  20,000 

Monies held in trust 0.1% Floating  34,886 – – –  34,886 

Financial liabilities – – –

unsecured loans 5.0% Fixed  1,274,668 – – –  1,274,668 

Net position  7,180,908 – – –  7,180,908 

2010

Financial assets

Cash at bank 0.1% Floating  132,326 – – –  132,326 

Cash at bank 5.6% Fixed  3,702,305 – – –  3,702,305 

Security deposits 5.7% Fixed  20,000 – – –  20,000 

Monies held in trust 0.1% Floating  34,887 – – –  34,887 

Financial liabilities

unsecured loans 5.0% Fixed  1,498,576 –  1,498,576 –  2,997,152 

Net position  5,388,094 –  1,498,576 –  6,886,670 

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2011, if interest rates changed by +/- 100 base points from the year end rates with other variables held 
constant, post tax loss for the year end would have been $75,211 lower/higher (2010:change of 100 base points $34,671 
lower/higher) as a result of lower/higher interest income from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with banks.

e. fair values

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the statement of financial 
position are set out below.

The net fair values of unsecured loans and convertible notes are determined by discounting the cash flows, at market 
interest rates of similar borrowings, to their present values. For other assets and other liabilities the net fair value 
approximates their carrying value.
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Notes to the coNsolidated fiNaNcial statemeNts
for year ended 31 December 2011

26. Financial Instruments (continued)

Carrying	
amount

2011
$

Fair	value
2011

$

Carrying	
amount

2010
$

Fair	value
2010

$

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents  5,851,354  5,851,354  4,037,462  4,037,462 

Current receivables  38,078  38,078  33,906  33,906 

Non-current receivables  196,600  196,600  266,286  266,286 

Other assets  148,024  148,024  131,553  131,553

Total financial assets  6,234,056  6,234,056  4,469,207  4,469,207 

Financial Liabilities

Trade and other payables  179,705  179,705  238,814  238,814 

unsecured loans  1,274,668  1,247,588  2,997,152  2,816,391 

Other liabilities  34,887  34,887  34,887  34,887 

Total financial liabilities  1,489,260  1,462,180  3,270,853  3,090,092 

f. derivative financial instruments

No derivative financial instruments were held by the Group either at 31 December 2011 or 31 December 2010.

g. Commodity Price risk

The Group is not affected by commodity price fluctuations.

27. Cashflows
a. reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank, cash on hand, and term 
deposits. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the cash flow statement is reconciled to the 
related items in the statement of financial position as follows:

2011
$

2010
$

Cash at bank and in hand  851,354  335,157 

Term deposits  5,000,000  3,702,305 

 5,851,354  4,037,462 
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b. Cash flows from operating activities

2011	
$

2010	
$

Profit/(loss)	for	the	financial	year 	(3,245,959) 	(2,686,180)

Depreciation  47,076  63,323 

Gain (loss) on disposal of assets  (8,092)  1,864 

Share based payments  389,773  366,416 

unrealised foreign exchange (gain)/loss  99,814  (305,825)

Non cash expenses  5,909 – 

Exploration asset write off  1,255,068 – 

(Increase)/decrease in assets:

Current receivables  (16,412)  365,278 

Interest receivable  (4,231)  (12,924)

Other current assets  12,851  49,428 

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:

Current payables  (59,109)  100,459 

Current provisions  51,359  42,123 

Interest bearing liabilities –  165,017 

Net	cash	flow	from	operating	activities 	(1,471,953) 	(1,851,021)

28. leasing Commitments

Operating	Lease	Commitments

Payable

– not later than 1 year  32,392  28,494 

– longer than 1 year but not later than 5 years – –

 32,392  28,494 

29. Commitments for Capital expenditure

Capital	expenditure	commitments

Payable

Plant and equipment:

– not longer than 1 year – – 

– –

30. economic Dependency
PT Indonusa Mining Services, a controlled entity of the Group is reliant upon the continued financial support of the parent entity.
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31. auditors’ remuneration
2011	

$
2010	

$

Audit	services

Auditors of the Company

KPMG – Australia

Audit and review of financial reports 60,550 60,496

KPMG – Indonesia

Audit and review of financial reports 24,419 7,626

84,969 68,122

Other services

Auditors of the Company

KPMG

Tax compliance and consulting services 30,300 7,000

 30,300  7,000 

 115,269  75,122 

32. Contingent liabilities
The Group has no contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2011 (2010: nil).

33. events subsequent to reporting Date
As a result of demonstrations in December 2011 and again in January 2012, the exploration license at Bima was revoked 
in January 2012 even though the Group and it’s joint venture partner had always been in full compliance with all legal 
and regulatory license requirements. The revocation of the Bima exploration licence is a disappointment for the Group, 
particularly as surface results had been so encouraging. The Company has obtained legal advice on the revocation of the 
Bima IuP and proposes to challenge the revocation of the exploration licence.

In addition, the Company is examining new opportunities outside of Indonesia to spread its project and country risk profile. 
The Company has taken steps to reduce its cash burn rate while these new opportunities are being explored.

Other than the matters discussed above, there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and 
the date of this report any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Directors 
of the Company, to affect significantly the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of 
the Group, in future financial years.

34. Parent entity Disclosures
As at, and throughout, the financial year ended 31 December 2011 the parent entity of the Group was Arc Exploration Limited.

Result	of	parent	entity

Profit/loss for the period (3,194,271) (2,125,985)

Other comprehensive income – –

Total comprehensive income for the period (3,194,271) (2,125,985)

Financial position of parent entity at year end

Current assets 5,846,410 3,953,077

Total assets 10,674,190 7,777,637

Current liabilities 1,372,565 1,646,147

Total liabilities 1,372,565 3,144,723

Total	equity	of	parent	entity	comprising	of:

Share capital 147,765,528 140,292,319

Reserve for own shares 760,924 371,151

Retain earnings/(losses) (139,224,827) (136,030,556)

Total	equity 9,301,625 4,632,914	
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direCTOrS’ deClArATiOn
for year ended 31 December 2011

Directors’ Declaration
1. In the opinion of the Directors of Arc Exploration Limited (“the Company”)

a. the Consolidated Financial Statements, Notes and the Remuneration Report in the Directors’ Report are in accordance 
with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

i. giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2011 and of its performance 
for the financial year ended on that date; and 

ii. complying with the Australian Accounting Standards (including Australian Accounting Interpretations) 
and the Corporations Regulations 2001;

b. the Financial Report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 2(a); and

c. as disclosed in Note 4 there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts 
as and when they become due and payable.

2. The Directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from  
the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer for the financial year ended 31 December 2011.

This declaration is signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Dated this 23rd day of March 2012.

John C. Carlile
Managing director

Bruce J. Watson
non-executive Chairman
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indePendenT AudiTOr’S rePOrT
for year ended 31 December 2011

 ABCD

KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent 
member firms affiliated with KPMG International, a Swiss cooperative. 

 

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Arc Exploration Limited

Report on the financial report
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Arc Exploration Limited (the company), 
which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2011, and 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity 
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date, notes 1 to 34 
comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information and 
the directors’ declaration of the Group comprising the company and the entities it controlled at 
the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report 

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that 
gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the 
Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement whether 
due to fraud or error. In note 2(a), the directors also state, in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial 
statements of the Group comply with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing 
Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit 
engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the 
financial report is free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
report.  

We performed the procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report 
presents fairly, in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and Australian Accounting 
Standards, a true and fair view which is consistent with our understanding of the Group’s 
financial position and of its performance.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 
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Independent AudItor’s report
for year ended 31 December 2011

ABCD

Independence 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001.  

Auditor’s opinion

In our opinion: 

(a)  the financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,
including:   

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at   
  31 December 2011 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations regulations
  2001. 

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
disclosed in note 2(a).

Report on the remuneration report
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 23 to 30 of the directors’ report for 
the year ended 31 December 2011. The directors of the company are responsible for the 
preparation and presentation of the remuneration report in accordance with Section 300A of the 
Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the remuneration report, 
based on our audit conducted in accordance with auditing standards. 

Auditor’s opinion 

In our opinion, the remuneration report of Arc Exploration Limited for the year ended
31 December 2011, complies with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

KPMG

Shane O’Connor 
Partner

Sydney 

23 March 2012 
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AudiTOr’S indePendenCe deClArATiOn
for year ended 31 December 2011

 ABCD

KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent 
member firms affiliated with KPMG International, a Swiss cooperative. 

 

Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001

To: the directors of Arc Exploration Limited

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit for the financial 
year ended 31 December 2011 there have been:

(i) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the 
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

(ii) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the 
audit. 

KPMG

Shane O’Connor 
Partner

Sydney 

23 March 2012 

ABCD
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SHAreHOlder infOrMATiOn 
as at 26 March 2012

shareholder Information 
a. Number of ARX shareholders  3,996 

Number of ARXO optionholders  791

b. Total shares issued  825,024,776

Total Listed ARXO Options (Exercisable at 75 cents, Expiry 30 June 2012)  7,940,728

c. Percentage of total holdings by or on behalf of the 20 largest shareholders  45.76%

Percentage of total holdings by or on behalf of the 20 largest ARXO optionholders 92.12%

d. Distribution schedule of holdings

Ordinary Shares

ARXO 
30	June	2012	

Options

1 – 1,000 1,300 657

1,001 – 5,000 684 92

5,001 – 10,000 225 12

10,001 – 100,000 1,032 19

100,001 and over 755 11

Less than marketable parcel 3,016 785

e. Voting rights:  Every member present personally or by proxy or attorney etc, shall, on a show of hands, have one vote and 
on a poll shall have one vote for every share held.

Top	20	Holders	Of	Ordinary	Fully	Paid	Shares

Rank Name Units % of Units

1. HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 62,271,536 7.55

2. Southo Investments Limited 56,526,752 6.85

3. Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited 47,577,171 5.77

4. JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 31,724,159 3.85

5. STA Holdings Pty Ltd <The Guess A/C> 24,776,710 3.00

6. Mr Meng Luo + Mrs Lan Liu <Luo & Liu Family A/C> 16,300,000 1.98

7. Graham Guerin Investments Pty Ltd <Graham Guerin S/F A/C> 14,500,000 1.76

8. Asia union Investments Pty Limited 14,000,000 1.70

9. Mr Bruce James Watson 13,289,907 1.61

10. J J N A Super Pty Ltd <Chatterton Family Super A/C> 12,574,073 1.52

11. Spyder B International Limited 12,499,998 1.52

12. Armco Barriers Pty Ltd 11,200,000 1.36

13. PT Austindo Nusantara Jaya 10,597,472 1.28

14. Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 8,309,490 1.01

15. Lion Selection Group Limited 7,939,345 0.96

16. DMG & Partners Securities Pte Ltd <Clients A/C> 7,594,362 0.92

17. Norvest Projects Pty Ltd 7,000,000 0.85

18. Mr Gregory John Munyard + Mrs Maria Ann Munyard + Miss Carmen Helene Munyard
<Riviera Super Fund A/C> 6,650,000 0.81

19. Mr Scott James Todd + Mrs Adele Todd 6,200,000 0.75

20. JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited <Cash Income A/C> 6,035,693 0.73

Total Top 20 Holders of Fully Paid Ordinary Shares 377,566,668 45.76

AnnuAl report 2011 67



Shareholder InformatIon 
as at 26 March 2012

Substantial	Shareholders
Shares to 

which	entitled
%	of	Issued	

Capital

Southo Investments Limited 56,526,752 6.85

ANZ Banking Group Limited 47,577,171 5.77

Top	20	Holders	of	ARXO	Options	–	exercisable	at	75¢,	expiry	30	June	2012

Rank Name Units % of Units

1. Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited 2,813,853 35.44

2. Rare Earths & Minerals Pty Ltd 740,740 9.33

3. JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 733,536 9.24

4. A Hewson Super Administration Pty Ltd 525,200 6.61

5. HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 488,158 6.15

6. PT Austindo Nusantara Jaya 324,675 4.09

7. Mr John Talbot Reilly 230,000 2.90

8. Macquarie Bank Limited 225,000 2.83

9. Mr Trevor Charles Payne + Ms Nawadi Tomkham <The Trevanna Super Fund A/C> 200,000 2.52

10. Mr David Alan Sanders 180,849 2.28

11. Mrs Heather Margaret Seymour 100,140 1.26

12. Denmat Pty Ltd <Denmat Property A/C> 100,000 1.26

13. Mr Rajnai Singh 100,000 1.26

14. Mr Michael Torr 100,000 1.26

15. Mr Philip James Henley + Mrs Penny Elaine Henley 95,000 1.20

16. Mr Fang Hua Ding 87,474 1.10

17. JYZ Pair Pty Ltd 85,000 1.07

18. Mr Hermani Soeprapto 81,169 1.02

19. Mrs Helen Campling 55,295 0.70

20. Capt Herbert Thomas Small 48,615 0.61

Total Top 20 holders of ARXO Listed Options – expiry 30/06/2012 7,314,704 92.12
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COrPOrATe direCTOry

Arc Exploration Limited
ABN 48 002 678 640

A public company incorporated in New South Wales and listed on the Australian Securities Exchange (Code: ARX)

Directors
Bruce J. Watson  (Non-Executive Chairman) 
John C. Carlile  (Managing Director) 
george S. Tahija  (Non-Executive Director) 
robert M. Willcocks  (Non-Executive Director)

 
Andrew J. Cooke  (Company Secretary)

Head and Registered Office
C/- Suite 1502,  
Level 15 Tower B 
799 Pacific Highway 
Chatswood NSW 2067 
Australia

Telephone: +(61 2) 9419 8044 
Email: management@arx.net.au 
Web Site:  www.arcexploration.com.au

Jakarta Office
C/- PT indonusa Mining Services 
Perkantoran CBD/BIDEX 
Blok F No. 5 
Jl. Pahlawan Seribu, BSD City 
Tangerang 15321 
Indonesia

Telephone: +62 21 5316 0118 
Facsimile: +62 21 5316 0119

Auditors
KPMg 
10 Shelley Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
Australia

Siddharta & Widjaja 
32nd Floor Wisma GkBI 
28, Jl. Jend. Sudirman Jakarta 10210 
Indonesia

Share Registry
Computershare investor Services Pty limited 
Level 5, 115 Grenfell Street 
Adelaide SA 5000 Australia

Telephone: 1300 556 161 (within Australia) 
 +(61 3) 9415 4000 (outside Australia) 
Facsimile: 1300 534 987

Web Site:  www.investorcentre.com/contact

This annual report has been printed using ecoStar paper from BJ Ball. ecoStar is an environmentally responsible paper made carbon neutral. 
The greenhouse gas emissions of the manufacturing process (including transportation of the finished product to BJ Ball’s wharehouse) has been 
measured by the Edinburgh Centre for Carbon Management (ECCM) and offset by the CarbonNeutral Company. The fibre source has been 
independently certified by the Forest Stewardship Council (FSC). ecoStar is manufactured from 100% post consumer recycled paper in a process 
chlorine free environment under the ISO 14001 environmental management system.
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